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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWRD M

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's consolidated net loss for the year was approximately
HK$377.5 million (2015: net profit of HK$419.6 million). The
consolidated net assets of the Group decreased from approximately
HK$5,061.1 million as at 31 March 2015 to approximately
HK$3,064.9 million as at 31 March 2016. The consolidated net loss
was mainly attributable to (i) net realised losses and net unrealised
gains of investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$354.1 million and approximately HK$144.7 million
respectively; (i) net gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments
of approximately HK$80.6 million; (iii) share of losses of joint
ventures and an associate of approximately HK$216.0 million; and
(iv) recognition of net deemed losses on changes in shareholding
interests in joint ventures and associates of approximately HK$88.2
million.

Placing of warrants

In April 2015, the Company entered into the First Placing Agreement
with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
issue and the Placing Agent agreed to procure the First Subscribers
to subscribe for 1,376,551,640 First Warrants with First Mandatory
Exercise Rights, on a fully-underwritten basis, at the First Issue Price
of HK$0.01 per First Warrant with First Mandatory Exercise Rights.
The First Subscription Price is HK$0.43 per First Warrant Share
(revised to HK$0.382 in May 2016). Upon full exercise of the First
Subscription Rights attached to the First Warrants with First
Mandatory Exercise Rights, a total of 1,376,551,640 First Warrant
Shares with par value of HK$0.001 each will be issued under the
First Specific Mandate.

In May 2015, the Company entered into the Second Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to issue and the Placing Agent agreed to procure the Second
Subscribers to subscribe for 688,275,820 Second Warrants with
Second Mandatory Exercise Rights, on a fully-underwritten basis, at
the Second Issue Price of HK$0.01 per Second Warrant with Second
Mandatory Exercise Rights. The Second Subscription Price is HK$0.55
per Second Warrant Share (revised to HK$0.489 in May 2016). Upon
full exercise of the Second Subscription Rights attached to the
Second Warrants with Second Mandatory Exercise Rights, a total of
688,275,820 Second Warrant Shares with par value of HK$0.001
each will be issued under the Second Specific Mandate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Placing of warrants (Continued)

Both the First Placing and Second Placing were approved by the
Shareholders at the SGM held on 24 June 2015. As at the date of
this annual report, 1,376,551,640 First Warrants with First
Mandatory Exercise Rights and 688,275,820 Second Warrants with
Second Mandatory Exercise Rights were issued to the warrantholders
but no First Warrant Shares under the First Placing or Second
Warrant Shares under the Second Placing were issued.

Details of the above events in relation to the First Placing and the
Second Placing and the capitalised terms in the above paragraphs
were set out and defined in the circular of the Company dated 9
June 2015.

Grant of share options

In April 2015, the Company granted share options to certain eligible
persons under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
31 August 2012 to subscribe for a total of 688,275,820 ordinary
shares with par value of HK$0.001 each at an exercise price of
HK$0.49 per share (the “Share Options”). As at the date of this
annual report, no Share Options were exercised.

Change of company name

In June 2015, the change of dual foreign name of the Company
from "REMETBRBFRAR" to "RRLRIEBABMRAF" was
approved by the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 15 June 2015. A copy
of the certificate of incorporation on change of name dated 16 June
2015 issued by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands
was received by the Company on 24 June 2015. The Company
completed the necessary filing with the Companies Registry in Hong
Kong and the registration of the new dual foreign name of the
Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) was confirmed by the
Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong. The Chinese stock short
name of the Company was changed from “"RZ %" to "RRSIR”
for the purpose of the trading of shares of the Company on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with
effect from 20 July 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Subscriptions of Freewill’s shares

In July 2015, the Group entered into two subscription agreements
(collectively referred to as the “Subscription Agreements”) with a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Enerchina Holdings Limited (whose
shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 622) ("Subscriber E”) and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Skyway Securities Group Limited (formerly known as Mission Capital
Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1141) (“Subscriber U"), pursuant to
which Subscriber E has agreed to subscribe for 38 million new shares
of Freewill Holdings Limited (“Freewill”, a joint venture of the Group
prior to signing the Subscription Agreements) at an aggregate
subscription price of HK$209 million and Subscriber U has agreed to
subscribe for 80 million new shares of Freewill at an aggregate
subscription price of HK$440 million (collectively referred to as
“Freewill Subscriptions”). After the completion of Freewill
Subscriptions, the Group’s equity interest in Freewill was diluted
from approximately 65.3% to approximately 45.3%. The joint
venture arrangement between the Group and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Mason Financial Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Willie International Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 273) pursuant to the
joint venture agreements dated 20 June 2014 in relation to, among
other things, the operations, management and business in Freewill
was terminated. Freewill is no longer accounted for as a joint
venture of the Group and became an associate of the Group.

Subsequent to Freewill Subscriptions, Freewill further underwent
certain share transactions during the year, and the Group’s equity
interest in Freewill was further diluted to approximately 31.8% as at
31 March 2016.

Acquisition and disposal of a yacht holding company

In July 2015, the Group acquired 100% equity interest of a yacht
holding company from certain independent third parties at an
aggregate consideration of HK$85 million and disposed of its entire
equity interest in the yacht holding company to an independent third
party at a consideration of HK$85 million in December 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Distribution of Smart Jump Corporation

In August 2015, Freeman Corporation Limited (“FCL", a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company before the Second Buy-Back (as
defined below)), distributed its entire issued share capital of Smart
Jump Corporation (“Smart Jump”, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company before the Dividend Take-Up (as defined below))
("Dividend Shares”) as dividend to its shareholders, including
Freeman Financial Investment Corporation (“FFIC”, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and other shareholders of FCL on
pro-rata basis. As the other shareholders of FCL elected to receive
cash in lieu of Dividend Shares from FCL with an aggregate sum of
approximately HK$511.9 million, the Company took up their
respective entitlements to the Dividend Shares (representing an
aggregate of approximately 39.5% equity interest in Smart Jump)
("Dividend Take-Up"). After the completion of the Dividend Take-Up,
Smart Jump is 100% held by FFIC and became an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Buy-backs of FCL

In August 2015, FCL bought back approximately 6.5% equity
interest in FCL at HK$1.23 per share of FCL at a consideration of
approximately HK$100.5 million (the “First Buy-Back”). After the
completion of First Buy-Back, the Group holds approximately 67.0%
equity interest in FCL.

In October 2015, FCL further bought back approximately 33.0%
equity interest in FCL at HK$1.23 per share of FCL at a consideration
of approximately HK$510.0 million (the “Second Buy-Back”) which
was approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 15 October 2015. After the First Buy-Back and
Second Buy-Back, FCL became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

Investment in JV Securities Company

In November 2015, Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL"”, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into the
promoters’ agreement with 14 co-promoters (the “Promoters’
Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties thereto conditionally
agreed to cooperate to set-up a full-licensed joint venture securities
company in Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone (the "JV Securities
Company”) under the framework of the Closer Economic Partnership
Arrangement between Mainland China and Hong Kong (“CEPA");
and FSL conditionally agreed to invest RMB350 million in the JV
Securities Company by way of subscription of 350,000,000 shares of
the JV Securities Company, representing 10% share capital thereof
for an aggregate subscription price of RMB350 million (the “JV
Investment”).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Investment in JV Securities Company (Continued)

In December 2015, FSL signed a supplemental shares subscription
letter and entered into a supplement to the Promoters’ Agreement
relating to change of co-promoters with all co-promoters, pursuant
to which FSL conditionally agreed to further invest RMB175 million
in the JV Securities Company by way of subscription of 175,000,000
shares of the JV Securities Company, representing 5% share capital
thereof at an aggregate subscription price of RMB175 million (the
“Further JV Investment”). When aggregated with the investment of
RMB350 million under the JV Investment, the total investment to be
made by FSL in the JV Securities Company shall amount to a total of
RMB525 million and, upon the completion of the transaction, FSL
will hold an aggregate of 15% of the share capital of the JV
Securities Company, becoming one of the two single largest
shareholders thereof.

In March 2016, the formation of the JV Securities Company under
the framework of CEPA has been approved by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission and the registration procedure with the
Ministry of Commerce and other relevant regulatory authorities in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) has been proceeded. FSL
has fully paid the aggregate subscription price of RMB525 million for
525,000,000 shares of the JV Securities Company.

Placing of convertible notes

In December 2015, the Company also entered into the placing
agreement with FSL (the “CN Placing Agent”), pursuant to which
the CN Placing Agent has conditionally agreed to procure not less
than six independent Subscribers to subscribe for the Convertible
Notes with an aggregate principal amount of HK$1,050,000,000, at
the Conversion Price of HK$0.35 per Conversion Share. Upon full
exercise of the conversion rights attached to the Convertible Notes, a
total of 3,000,000,000 Conversion Shares with par value of
HK$0.001 each will be issued under the Specific Mandate.

In February 2016, the Company entered into the Supplemental
Agreement with the CN Placing Agent, pursuant to which the
Company and the CN Placing Agent agreed to vary certain terms and
conditions of the Placing and the Convertible Notes, among other
things, (i) revised the maximum principal amount of the Convertible
Notes from HK$1,050,000,000 to HK$600,000,000; and (ii) revised
the Conversion Price from HK$0.35 to HK$0.15 per Conversion
Share. The total number of the Conversion Shares to be issued upon
full exercise of the conversion rights attached to the Convertible
Notes was changed from 3,000,000,000 Conversion Shares to
4,000,000,000 Conversion Shares.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Placing of convertible notes (Continued)

The Placing was approved by the Shareholders at the EGM held on
15 March 2016 and the completion of the Placing took place on 31
March 2016. Convertible Notes in the principal amount of HK$600
million were exercised by the Convertible Noteholders and
4,000,000,000 new shares at Conversion Price of HK$0.15 each
were issued. The Company's total issued shares as at 31 March 2016
were increased to 14,324,137,300 ordinary shares with par value of
HK$0.001 each.

Details of the above events in relation to the Placing of Convertible
Notes and the capitalised terms in the above paragraphs were set
out and defined in the circular of the Company dated 24 February
2016.

New JV Company

In December 2015, the Group entered into a joint venture
agreement (the “JV Agreement”) with an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Opto Holdings Limited (“COHL", formerly known
as China Optoelectronics Holding Group Co., Limited whose shares
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1332) (“COHL's subsidiary”) and a joint venture company (the “JV
Company”), pursuant to which FFIC and COHL's subsidiary agreed to
set up a joint venture for single purpose of carrying out business of
provision of finance and money lending. Each party invested capital
of HK$150,000,000 into the JV Company and held 50% equity
interest in the JV Company.

In March 2016, the JV Company further issued shares to new
investors and the Group’s equity interest in the JV Company was
diluted to approximately 41.6% as at 31 March 2016.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2016, the Group held investments at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$1,235.1 million (31
March 2015: 3,686.3 million), representing approximately 40.3%
(2015: 72.8%) of the Group's net assets of approximately
HK$3,064.9 million (31 March 2015: 5,061.1 million). The Group
held a diversified portfolio of listed investments throughout the year.
As at 31 March 2016, the Group mainly held listed securities of
HengTen Networks Group Limited ("HengTen", formerly known as
Mascotte Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 136) with a carrying value
of HK$761.0 million, representing approximately 24.8% of Group's
net assets and approximately 2.8% of HengTen’s total issued shares.
HengTen and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business
of investment and trading of securities, provision of finance,
property investment, manufacturing and sales of accessories for
photographic products.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

As at 31 March 2015, the Group mainly held listed securities of
below listed companies: (i) HengTen with carrying value of HK$560.2
million (representing approximately 11.1% of the Group’s net assets
as at 31 March 2015 and approximately 18.9% of HengTen's total
issued shares); (ii) China Innovative Finance Group Limited (“China
Innovative”, formerly known as Heritage International Holdings
Limited, stock code: 412) with carrying value of HK$732.7 million
(representing approximately 14.5% of the Group’s net assets as at
31 March 2015 and approximately 7.3% of China Innovative's total
issued shares); and (iii) China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited
(“China Smarter”, formerly known as Rising Development Holdings
Limited, stock code: 1004) with carrying value of HK$472.3 million
(representing approximately 9.3% of the Group’s net assets as at 31
March 2015 and approximately 5.5% of China Smarter’s total issued
shares).

China Innovative and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
investment business, fur business, mining business and solar energy
business. China Smarter and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in financial leasing, investment in listed and unlisted securities,
money lending business and asset trading platform.

Other listed investments are individually carrying at value less than
5% of the Group's net assets as at 31 March 2016 and 2015.

The Group recorded net unrealised gains of investments at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$144.7 million (2015:
551.3 million) for the year. Of which included net unrealised gains of
approximately HK$133.6 million (2015: losses of HK$67.5 million)
for investments in listed securities of HengTen for the year.

In the view of the stock market volatility and general trading
sentiment since April 2015, the Group realised its investments in
listed securities with carrying value of approximately HK$3,539.9
million for an aggregate gross proceeds of approximately
HK$3,185.8 million, resulting net realised losses of investments at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$354.1 million
for the year. Of which included disposals of listed securities of
HengTen at gross proceeds of approximately HK$384.5 million and
net realised gains of approximately HK$95.0 million were recorded
for the year. The proceeds from disposals of listed investments have
been applied towards payment of dividends to shareholders of
Freeman Corporation Limited, and expansion of the Group's existing
business lines and general working capital purposes.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group also realised its
investments in listed securities at market sentiment with carrying
value of approximately HK$784.3 million for an aggregate gross
proceeds of approximately HK$592.1 million, resulting net realised
losses of investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$192.2 million.

The Group considers trading of securities is one of its core

businesses and the Group will continue to take attentive approach
on its future investments.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Disposal of Smart Jump Group

In March 2016, the Group and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Imagi
International Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 585) (the "Purchaser”)
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued
share capital in Smart Jump Corporation at a total consideration of
HK$1,800 million (the “Disposal”). Smart Jump Corporation is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which holds four
wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively referred as “Smart Jump
Group”). Smart Jump Group is principally engaged in trading of
securities. As at the date of this annual report, the Disposal was not
yet completed.

During the current year, save as disclosed above, there were neither
other material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint venture companies.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group resulted a gross loss for the year of HK$234.2 million
(2015: HK$35.2 million), representing a substantial increase of
approximately 565.3% as compared to the last year. It was mainly
due to the increase in net realised losses from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit and loss of approximately
HK$354.1 million (2015: HK$192.2 million) as a result of stock
market volatility and general trading sentiment. Dividend income
from trading investments decreased by approximately 56.1% to
HK$35.2 million as compared to HK$80.1 million in 2015, which is
mainly contributed by less dividends were received by the Group
from listed securities. Interest income from provision of finance
increased by approximately 30.3% to HK$36.1 million as compared
to HK$27.7 million in 2015 as more loans were granted to
customers during the year. Insurance brokerage income significantly
increased by approximately 253.7% to HK$76.4 million as compared
to HK$21.6 million in 2015 as a result of increase in customers’
portfolio. Income from securities and futures brokerage, placing,
underwriting and margin financing services, was HK$56.4 million,
representing an increase of 46.1% as compared to HK$38.6 million
in 2015 as more sizable underwriting, sub-underwriting, placing and
sub-placing transactions were undertaken during the current year.
Corporate finance advisory fee decreased by approximately 35.5% to
HK$6.0 million as compared to HK$9.3 million in 2015 as a result of
competitive market of the industry.

Other income and gains increased to HK$94.3 million for the year
(2015: HK$7.1 million), which was mainly represented by a net gain
on disposal of available-for-sale investments of HK$80.6 million
(2015: Nil). The Group also recorded significant net unrealised fair
value gains on securities held for trading of HK$144.7 million for the
year (2015: HK$551.3 million). The Group shared losses of HK$216.0
million from joint ventures and an associate for the year (2015:
HK$5.5 million). Cost saving is a continuous aim in monitoring daily
operations by the Group. This year, general and administrative
expenses amounted to HK$95.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 105.4% as compared to HK$46.5 million in 2015
which was mainly due to recognition of equity-settled share option
expense of HK$23.1 million and increase in securities trading
commission and expenses of HK$13.0 million. Income tax credit
amounted to HK$27.2 million (2015: tax expenses of HK$42.8
million), mainly represented the provision of deferred tax credit of
HK$38.1 million (2015: deferred tax expenses of HK$42.2 million)
for the tax effect of unrealised fair value gain on securities held for
trading.

Net loss attributable to Shareholders for the year was HK$621.0
million (2015: net profit of HK$533.0 million). A loss per share was
HK6.01 cents (31 March 2015: earnings per share HK5.16 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil).

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2016, net current assets of the Group amounted to
HK$1,603.7 million (31 March 2015: HK$4,007.4 million) with cash
and bank balances of HK$209.0 million (31 March 2015: HK$50.7
million) and the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was
7.3 (31 March 2015: 13.3). The Group had secured other borrowings
of HK$71.4 million (31 March 2015: HK$200.3 million) and
unsecured other borrowing of HK$10.0 million (31 March 2015:
HK$120.0 million). Gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the
Group’s interest-bearing borrowings divided by the equity
attributable to owners of the Company was 2.7% (31 March 2015:
9.3%). The other borrowings of the Group carried floating interest
rates calculated by reference to the Hong Kong dollar prime rate or
lender’s costs of funds were made in Hong Kong dollar. The Group's
exposure to foreign exchange rate was minimal. The Group did not
have any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

The Group had no material capital commitment as at 31 March 2016
(31 March 2015: Nil). In light of the amount of liquid assets on hand
and banking facilities available, the Directors are of the view that the
Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing
operational requirements. The Group’s assets portfolio is mainly
financed by its shareholders’ funds. As at 31 March 2016, the Group
had shareholders’ funds of HK$3,064.9 million (31 March 2015:
HK$3,454.5 million). During the year, the Company raised net
proceeds from issue of new shares upon conversion of convertible
notes for approximately HK$578.5 million which has been used as
the payment of the subscription money of the JV Securities
Company.

In May 2016, the Company issued two unsecured notes each with a
principal amount of HK$10 million to two independent third parties
named Ms. Huang Gunyun and Mr. Wang Guiyu with interest
bearing at 5% per annum payable annually in arrears for the
Group’s general working capital. Both notes are repayable in May
2023.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2016, investments at fair value through profit or loss
of HK$1,235.1 million (31 March 2015: HK$3,318.6 million and an
available-for-sale investment of HK$32.2 million) were pledged to
financial institutions to secure margin-financing facilities provided to
the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS

Details of material acquisitions/disposals during the year are set out
in the section “Business Review".

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no material capital commitment as at 31 March 2016
(31 March 2015: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2016 (31 March 2015: Nil).

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION POLICY AND

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

As at 31 March 2016, the Group employed 33 staff members
including directors of the Company (2015: 28 staff). Staff costs
incurred for the year, including directors’ remuneration, were
approximately HK$20.5 million (2015: HK$12.8 million). It was the
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees with
reference to their qualifications, experience and work performance
as well as market benchmarks. Remuneration packages, include
granting of share options, were structured to motivate individual
performance and contributions to the Group. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme and the Group operates a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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PROSPECTS

The approval of the formation of the JV Securities Company by the
China Securities Regulatory Commission and the Ministry of
Commerce of the PRC in March 2016 has offered a golden
opportunity for the Company to embark on a new milestone in its
business development in financial services industry. With this joint
venture investment, the Group have been offered a first-starter
advantage to access to the huge and fast-growing financial markets
in China which enabled the Group to engage in a full spectrum of
securities and financial business in China. The Board believed that
the Group would be significantly benefited from the expansion of its
financial services in the new market.

In the long run, the Group aim at extending its financial services
businesses to Mainland China and will continue to pursue new
opportunities in the financial services industry to enhance values to
the Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its gratitude
and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners, banks,
professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By order of the Board
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited

Lo Kan Sun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2016
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEE 1

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Kan Sun (“Mr. Lo"), aged 62, joined the Company as
Executive Director in June 2008 and was re-designated as Managing
Director in November 2008. Mr. Lo was promoted as Acting
Chairman in July 2012 and as Chairman in July 2013. Mr. Lo holds a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from Indiana University in
the United States of America (“the USA"”) and a Bachelor’s degree in
Electrical Engineering from University of lllinois, the USA. Mr. Lo has
over 30 years of experience in finance, investment and banking in
Hong Kong and Canada.

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (“Mr. Hui”), aged 43, joined the
Company as General Manager in August 2010 and was re-
designated as Managing Director in September 2010. Mr. Hui holds
a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) degree and a Bachelor of Economics
degree from the University of Sydney, Australia. Mr. Hui has over 15
years of investment banking, financial services and legal experience.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hui was a managing director with
Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited (“Credit Suisse”). Before that, Mr.
Hui was a managing director and Head of Hong Kong Banking in
Global Banking of Deutsche Bank Group (“Deutsche Bank"”). During
his service with Deutsche Bank and Credit Suisse, Mr. Hui worked on
and supervised the completion of many landmark mergers and
acquisitions and fund-raising transactions. Mr. Hui was a solicitor
with Linklaters in Hong Kong before joining Deutsche Bank, and was
admitted as solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales,
legal practitioner of the Supreme Court of New South Wales,
Australia, and solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong.

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue (“"Ms. Au”), aged 51, joined the Company as
Executive Director in June 2006. Ms. Au has obtained a bachelor’s
degree of science in accounting from Liberty University, Virginia and
has more than 10 years of experience in business administration and
accounting. Previously, Ms. Au was the managing director of a
telecommunication equipment manufacturing and trading company
and was the Chief Executive Officer of a listed company before
joining the Company.

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (“Ms. Chow"), aged 40, joined the Company's
accounts and company secretarial department in December 2010
and was appointed as Executive Director in February 2011. Ms.
Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and holds a Bachelor (Hons) degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Chow was also appointed as Company Secretary in March
2011. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Chow has over 13 years of
experience in accounting and auditing at an international accounting
firm and has extensive experience in financial services, investment
and property development.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 49, has been
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in August 2013. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of
experience in auditing and accounting fields. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy with honours from City University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Hung Cho Sing (“Mr. Hung"), aged 75, joined the Company as
Independent Non-executive Director in January 2013. Mr. Hung has
over 30 years of experience in the film distribution industry and
founded Delon International Film Corporation in 1970. Mr. Hung has
been the chairman of Hong Kong Motion Picture Industry
Association Limited since 1991 and was the chairman of Hong Kong
Film Awards Association Limited from 1993 to 1995. Mr. Hung was
appointed by the HKSAR Government as a member of the Hong
Kong Film Development Council from 2007 to 31 March 2013. Mr.
Hung was also appointed as a consultant of the China Film
Association since 2013. Mr. Hung is also a member of HKSAR
Election Committee and a vice-chairman of the Cultural Profession
Committee of the Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau Cooperation
Promotion Council (BER&E BE R ERES NI EXZE SR EE
Z 8). Mr. Hung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the
HKSAR Government in 2005 in recognition of his contribution to the
Hong Kong Film industry. Mr. Hung has been appointed by the
HKSAR Government as member of the Working Group on
Manufacturing Industries, Innovative Technology, and Cultural and
Creative Industries under the Economic Development Commission on
an ad personam basis for a term of two years with effect from 17
January 2015.

Dr. Agustin V. Que (“Dr. Que”), aged 69, joined the Company as
Independent Non-executive Director in September 2010. Dr. Que
holds Doctor of Philosophy and Master degrees in Business
Administration, both majoring in Finance, from the Wharton School
of the University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the
USA. Dr. Que has been involved in the field of finance for more than
35 years as a private equity investor, merchant banking, corporate
and development finance professional in Jakarta, Hong Kong,
Singapore, Boston and Washington, District of Columbia. Dr. Que is
now based in Manila after 15 years in Jakarta where Dr. Que was
corporate finance adviser to an Indonesian holding company with
diversified interests in agribusiness, property and financial services. In
this position, Dr. Que was responsible for mergers and acquisitions,
new investments, business development and investment banking
activities. Prior to Jakarta, Dr. Que worked in the financial sector in
Hong Kong for 12 years. Dr. Que started his career in finance in
Washington, District of Columbia, the USA with The World Bank,
over a period of 10 years. His last posting was senior investment
officer in the capital markets department of the International Finance
Corporation, The World Bank's private investment arm.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) has always valued
transparency and accountability as the keys for achieving a high
standard of corporate governance, earning the confidence of
shareholders of the Company and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) as its own code on corporate governance practices.
Save as disclosed below, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code and there have been no material deviations from the CG Code
during the year:

Code Provision A.6.7. — (i) One Independent Non-executive Director
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 15 September 2015; (i) one Independent Non-executive
Director was unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 15 June 2015; (iii) one Executive Director and
one Independent Non-executive Director were unable to attend the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 24 June
2015, 15 October 2015 and 15 March 2016; and (iv) two
Independent Non-executive Directors were unable to attend the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 9 July 2015,
as they had other engagements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout
the year, all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Board composition
As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman), Mr. Hui
Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director), Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue
and Ms. Chow Mun Yee, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping, Mr. Hung Cho Sing
and Dr. Agustin V. Que. Director’s biographical details are set
out in the Biographical Details of Directors on pages 16 to 17.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

2.

Change in Director’s information

Pursuant to the relevant requirement under the Listing Rules,
the changes in Director’s information since 1 April 2015 are set
out below:

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping, an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of (i) China Innovative Finance Group Limited
(formerly known as Heritage International Holdings Limited,
whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 412) with effect from 17 April 2015; (ii)
Enerchina Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 622) with
effect from 21 May 2015; and (iii) China Opto Holdings Limited
(formerly known as China Optoelectronics Holding Group Co.,
Limited, whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1332) with effect from 11 August
2015.

Mr. Hung Cho Sing, an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of (i) Sunrise (China) Technology Group
Limited (whose shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange ("GEM”), stock code: 8226)
with effect from 15 May 2015; and (ii) Miko International
Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1247) with effect from 14
April 2016. Mr. Hung has been appointed as an executive
director and chairman of Jia Meng Holdings Limited (whose
shares are listed on the GEM, stock code: 8101) with effect
from 23 May 2016. Mr. Hung has resigned as an independent
non-executive director of HengTen (formerly known as
Mascotte Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 136) with effect from
26 October 2015.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

3. Attendance records of board meetings and other general
meetings
For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board convened a total
of 39 full board meetings. Attendance records of the Board
meetings, other general meetings and the meetings of the
Board Committees during the year were set out below:

Annual
General
Board Meeting
EZE RRBFXE

=

3.

= 2

EEEEBRAMREAR S HERS

BE_Z-—RF=ZA=+T—HLFE &
EZEAHOMIRESEERER -FA-
EXgeR EMBERAERESFEZES
SRILFEBREINMT

Meetings Attended/Held

e/ BTEERE

Extraordinary

General Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Meeting Committee Committee Committee

RRBHAE BRZRE HMZREE REZRE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman) EBNEE(EE) 38/39 1”n

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei TEREA 039 171
(Managing Director) (EZH#EE)

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue MRETT 29/39 17

Ms. Chow Mun Yee e ME 36/39 1N

Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTES

Directors
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping R TEE 32139 17
Mr. Hung Cho Sing HEERA 30139 17
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quef& - 16/39 0/1
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (resigned on EFB%EE (R —A%F 25/39 11
21 June 2016) AAZT-BEE)

4. Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as
overseeing internal control, financial performance, overall
management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies
and managing the daily business operations.
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5.
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EEY 2

Independence of Directors 5. EEzBEIM

During the year ended 31 March 2016 and up to the date of REBEZE—"F=ZA=+T—HLEFER

the annual report, the Company has complied with the BEEFWHE ARAISET EMHAAD

requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed three BE LEHE=FEIENTES A1

Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than REEREEABN =Dz — &I —F

one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least BIUNTEZHRREEEXER g

one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has FrE B B EEE R -

appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an EBUFNTESCREBLMIEHFE

annual confirmation of independence, and the Company MR MR E AR 2 385] - KA A

considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors NABMBBLENTESHRELA

are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in to

the Listing Rules.

Directors’ professional development 6. EECHERR

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous AAAEBEEL2MEFETET R UFE

professional development to develop and refresh their BREEFEZF2A#HEFE - RARINE

knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house BESZHRRABEIN Wm K FRHE

training for Directors and provided the relevant materials to the FEEA K} o

Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company. FPREFHEMARAEREE 2EIE

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Directors participated EZFT-RNF=-A=+—HLFE =

in the following trainings: EGR2ETHE:

Name Type of trainings

A EINEE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman) BEFEE (FE) A, B

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director) FTERRE A (EFAATE) A, B

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R &R+ A, B

Ms. Chow Mun Yee B/ E A, B

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping RETFEAE A, B

Mr. Hung Cho Sing B E Ak A B

Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quel®& & A, B

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (resigned on 21 June 2016) EEBLE (RZE—RFARAZ+—A A, B

BHE)

A: in-house training A AEBEN

B:  attending seminars and/or forums and/or reading relevant B: WEMEER SRk, oHEMBEM
materials *t

RESHRERARA A
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are segregated.
Mr. Lo Kan Sun is the Chairman of the Company and provides
leadership for the Board. One of the major roles of Mr. Lo is to
ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibility properly. Mr. Lo also ensures that good corporate
governance practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Hui Quincy
Kwong Hei, the Managing Director of the Company, performs the
role of Chief Executive of the Company and is responsible for
implementing the Group’s investment strategies within the
authorities delegated by the Board and managing the day-to-day
business of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

1.

Audit Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Dr.
Agustin V. Que. Each committee meeting was chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director. The principal duties of the
Audit Committee include:

®*  monitoring the independence and objectivity with the
external auditors and maintaining the effectiveness of the
audit process;

e monitoring integrity of the Company's financial
statements and reports;

*  reviewing financial controls, risk management system and
internal controls; and

e reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Group's internal control, the interim report for
the six months ended 30 September 2015 and the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2016.

The Audit Committee convened two meetings for the year.
Additional meetings will be held if the Audit Committee shall
so request. The individual attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

2.

Remuneration Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Dr.
Agustin V. Que. The major roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee as per the terms of reference are as
follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management;

e to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

e to review and recommend the remuneration packages of
all Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and

*  to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation
arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.

The Remuneration Committee has every right to access to
professional advice relating to remuneration proposal if
necessary. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to
independent professional advice if necessary. During the year,
the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
package for the Directors and senior management of the
Group and no Director was involved in deciding his/her
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee adopted the
approach under the CG Code to determine and review, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee convened two meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

Nomination Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Dr.
Agustin V. Que. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee as per the terms of reference are as
follows:
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

3.

Nomination Committee (Continued)

e  to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations for appointment of directors/
chairman/chief executives; and

e to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if necessary. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and considered the appointment of
Independent Non-executive Directors.

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee convened one meeting for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

Board Diversity

The Board established a set of Board Diversity Policy setting out
the terms and approach to achieve diversity on the Board in
order to enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the high
standards of corporate governance. Board diversity has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, as well as the Company’s business nature and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to
be effective. Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit and contribution basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists of
diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

4.

Corporate Governance Function

No corporate governance committee has been established. The
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties with written terms of reference as below:

to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s external auditors in respect of audit services and
non-audit services were as follows:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chow Mun Yee is the Company Secretary of the Company, who
is also an Executive Director of the Company. She supports the
Board, ensures good information flow within the Board and Board
policy and procedures are followed, advises the Board on governance
matters and arrange continuous professional development to the
Directors. Her biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, Ms. Chow has confirmed
that she has duly complied with the relevant requirement under the
Listing Rules and taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and risk
management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried
out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies
had been properly followed; books and records and documents were
properly maintained; and the investment or divestment was in
compliance with relevant legislations, regulations or/and other
statutory requirements.

Investment in listed securities is the core of the Group’ s investments
which classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss in
the statement of financial position and may expose to market price
risk. The Board has continuously monitoring the Group’s investments
with an aim to reduce such risk.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1.

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary

general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two shareholders of the Company may request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by way of depositing
a written requisition at the registered office of the Company
(Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands) specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

Procedures for proposing a person for election as a
Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A shareholder of the Company may propose a person (the
"Person”) for election as a Director by lodging the following
documents at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Room 2302, 23rd Floor, China United Centre, 28
Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the shareholder concerned of
his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its full
name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence on
(and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

3. Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company's share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. Other shareholders’ enquiries
can be sent by mail to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at Room 2302, 23rd Floor, China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong for
the attention of Company Secretary who will direct the
enquiries to the Board for their handling.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
1. The Company’s Constitutional Documents
There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2016.

2. Communication with Investors

The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
available electronically and on a timely basis. This includes
extensive historical information about the Group’s performance
and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report,
announcements and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with shareholders. All
shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website on a timely basis.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and of its financial performance
and cash flows. The Directors ensure that the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016 have been prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. They will also ensure the publication of which be in a
timely manner.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the financial statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the
year by operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group's business review and
prospects can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2016 and the
financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 40 to 41. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 124. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS, WARRANTS
AND COVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the movements in the share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in notes 25 and 26 to the
financial statements respectively.

During the year, 1,376,551,640 First Warrants with First Mandatory
Exercise Rights and 688,275,820 Second Warrants with Second
Mandatory Exercise Rights were issued to the warrant holders and
warrant reserve of approximately HK$20,648,000 was resulted from
the issue of these warrants for the year ended 31 March 2016. All
these warrants were outstanding as at 31 March 2016. Further
details of the issue of warrants were disclosed in the Business Review
under the paragraph headed “Placing of warrants” of the
Management Discussion and Analysis section.
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SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS, WARRANTS
AND COVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

During the year, the Company also issued convertible notes in the
principal amount of HK$600 million to convertible noteholders with
conversion rights for 4,000,000,000,000 new shares at HK$0.15
each. As at 31 March 2016, all convertible notes were exercised by
the convertible noteholders and the Company’s total issued shares
were increased to 14,324,137,300. There were no convertible notes
outstanding as at 31 March 2016. Further details of the issue of
convertible notes were disclosed in the Business Review under the
paragraph headed “Placing of convertible notes” of the
Management Discussion and Analysis section and note 25(c) to the
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the
Company.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 42 and note 38 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, distributable reserve, shareholder’s contribution,
share option reserve, warrant reserve and accumulated losses, which
in aggregate amounted to HK$3,036,378,000 (2015:
HK$3,723,261,000) at 31 March 2016.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
HK$250,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represents
approximately 59.0% of the Group’s total revenue (excluding the
Group's dividend income and losses from the sale of investments at
fair value through profit or loss, net) and the revenue attributable to
the Group's largest customer was approximately 40.8% (excluding
the Group's dividend income and losses from the sale of investments
at fair value through profit or loss, net).

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers represents approximately 79.5% of the Group’s
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier was approximately 69.7% of the Group’s total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no Directors of the Company, their
close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the
Directors’ knowledge own more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) has any shareholding in the suppliers referred to above as at
31 March 2016.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Chairman)

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue

Ms. Chow Mun Yee

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping

Mr. Hung Cho Sing

Dr. Agustin V. Que

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (resigned on 21 June 2016)

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Lo Kan Sun, Mr. Cheung Wing Ping and Dr. Agustin
V. Que will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2016, based on the register kept by the Company, the
interests of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:
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% 2 B AIAANA R S EL AR A 2 R 1D
AR RERED  HEBRALDAREE
5 REBEGED ([B5RBEGEH]) 3521568
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EMRTABEFETESRSNIBET AL
BT R R EHEMT

RARBEBRZEFR:

Deemed
Number of interests
shares in number of )
and shares and Approximate
) - percentage of
underlying underlying the issued
Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares Total share capital
BAER R0 R
. Frsitk  HERGHAE HEBITRAE
ESHR %) HEROHE hERER st BOBEDL
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei Beneficial owner - 100,000,000 100,000,000 0.70%
FFEER A BB A
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue Beneficial owner 7,375,320 - 7,375,320 0.05%
TR 2+ EnEEA
Ms. Chow Mun Yee Beneficial owner 6,048,000 100,000,000 106,048,000 0.74%
e R /A BB A

The interests stated above represent the Directors’ interests in the
shares of the Company. Save as disclosed above and based on the
register kept by the Company, at 31 March 2016, none of the
Directors, chief executives nor their associates had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures)
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
directors, or their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had
any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2016, based on the register kept by the Company, the
following persons has interests or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company's issued share capital, as known to the Company or
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of SFO:
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Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Total share capital
\ ) fEe BT BA
TERRER KA g4 et OB
Andrew Liu (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,116,848,070 7.80%
B (M) E=mHEA
Ou Yaping (Note 2) Beneficial owner 840,000,000 5.86%
B ge s (MIFE2) EnlEAEA
ET Group Holdings Limited (Note 3) Benechial owner 879,520,000 6.14%
eEEEZERER AR (MEE3) E=mHEA

Note 1: These shares are held by Unitas Capital Strategic Partners | Limited
which is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Andrew Liu.

Note 2: These shares are held by Kenson Investment Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Enerchina Holdings Limited (“Enerchina”),
whereas Asia Pacific Promotion Limited (which is wholly-owned by
Mr. Ou Yaping) has approximately 36.38% equity interest in
Enerchina.

Note 3: These shares are held by Upperclass Developments Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of GT Group Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company at 31 March 2016 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Sections 336 of the SFO.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or subsisting during
the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by
the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the
Directors are decided by the Board, who are authorised by the
shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme as an incentive, details of the scheme are set out in
note 26 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company during the year. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares is held by the public as at the date of
this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions (which did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) for the year
ended 31 March 2016 are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and reqgulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company values its employees and maintains competitive
remuneration packages to motivate its employees. Throughout the
year, the Group continued to maintain good relationships with its
employees, customers, suppliers, service providers and investors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly
corporation. The Group promotes environmental practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycled papers and
reducing energy consumption of lightings and air-conditioning.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

A report on the corporate governance practices of the Company is
set out in pages 18 to 28 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the coming annual general meeting
of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited

Lo Kan Sun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2016
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZHEERE

EY:

To the shareholders of Freeman Financial Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Freeman
Financial Corporation Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries
set out on pages 38 to 124, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors'
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016, and of their financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2016

Independent Auditors’ Report
B2 BE RS

Mz RE (2
BERIESRATIEFNERGRE A PR
RIS BERBEBREN ZEZERE -FIEE 2R
Fr BRI R B 2 #I i - B8 AT (4 R BRFF Sk
RMBMG AP HBRRFEEANERRLZ A
@ o RHE X F AR AZBENE B EZ A RR
ERARRQNTHERGEEMBERERREBZA
MER URFTERERBRAZEZEF AX
FERBRAIZABEEREBERERER - BZ
THNTERIEEEMEBZETRREESA
ERFERZ @FHETREAE  URFERA
MR ZEBE2H TN -

AZBMBEECESRERABZERERRE (F
RRHBERER 2 AR

BR

AZBENR L FREVBHRRBREBVBRE
EHEFEQN TR ERRREMEQA
R-B-RE=ZA=1T—HZBBERRRRE
BEZALFELMBRRIBESRE  LOR
BEERAGIZBEBEREZEMmE -

ERBHTEBIT
ES
Fb R
REE R
s AE =+

—F-xERA=TAA

REBEEHRERABRA2E 37



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEeEBEmER

Year ended 31 March 2016 HZ=ZF— N+ =HA=+—HIFEF

2016 2015
—E—RE —ET—FHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5T BET T BT T
REVENUE Uy &= 5 (14,976)
Cost of sales S K AR (20,195)
Gross loss Fi8 (35,171)
Other income and gains E A g A R gz 5 7,101
Fair value gains on investments at fair BBRBEURAFENREZIREZ
value through profit or loss, net N EW S FRE 551,285
General and administrative expenses ~ — & M ITEF X (46,516)
Other expenses, net Hth 5l 2 F58 (1,068)
Finance costs B & A A 7 (7,705)
Share of profits and losses of joint DIEEERRIRBE R RN R
ventures and associates, net B F R 14 (5,539)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BB ADRF, (EE) 6 462,387
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEHiEe,/ (FAx) 10 (42,816)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REEGHN(FBB) 419,571
Attributable to: THIALFEL:
Owners of the Company FiN/NECIE F SN 533,025
Non-controlling interests FEPER (113,454)
419,571
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AATREBRESEAEBEER 1
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BF/(EBR)

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic and diluted HAK#E HK5.16 centsis il

fFREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REEEBARSE

Year ended 31 March 2016 EZE-—F—NF=A=+—HIFZ

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iN=s BT T BT T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REEREFN (EE) 419,571
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ HttZMEUW A~ (Ei8)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to R EEZBIMEFT HEEER 2
be reclassified to profit or loss in Ha2mKRA (EBE)
subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments: Al ERE
Change in fair values N EEZDH 15 5,495
Reclassification of cumulative ZEHERNHERER D
gains to the consolidated HEHFEEBEE
statement of profit or loss
upon disposal -
Share of other comprehensive PMEEERFIRBE R Z
income/(loss) of joint ventures Hiz2mbA (FiE)
and associates, net AR 14 693
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AEEHMEREBA  (FHE)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF (BRBi%)
TAX 6,188
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AEE2EWA  (FE)EE
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 425,759
Attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company KRARHEE A 539,360
Non-controlling interests 1N (113,601)

425,759




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R E BRSO R

31 March 2016 —ZF—NF=HA=+—H

2016

=E-REF

Notes HK$'000
Mt BT T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

Investments in joint ventures and an

associate
Intangible assets
Available-for-sale investments
Loans receivable
Deposits
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Accounts receivable

Loans receivable

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Tax recoverable

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing other borrowings
Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE

VN
REZRAN—HBERAZ
wE

BIVEE

AHHERE

& 4 B R

Be

EREHAEE

FRBEERE

RBEE

R U5 R R

JE W & 3R

BN e REMERFOR
BRBmARFEIIKZERE

JE W A5 1R
Re RRITHER

MBEERE

RBEE

&1 BR 3K

Htp AN RAREER
FHEEMEE

JE 778

mEAERE

RBEEFE

BREERRBAE

ﬁEEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

12

14
13
15
16
18
24

17
16

18

19

20

21
22
23

2015
—T—RF
HK$'000
BT T

1,757

1,000,814
1,736
91,461

152

1,095,920

211,519
329,995

52,289
3,686,317

2,666
50,659

4,333,445

1,322
4,423
320,255

326,000

4,007,445

5,103,365




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A MR AMOR ;R

31 March 2016 —F—~NF=HA=+—H

2016 2015
—E-RF —E—AF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing other borrowing STEEAMER 23 -
Deferred tax liability R IE B F 24 42,289
Total non-current liabilities EmEBEERRE 42,289
Net assets BEEFE 5,061,076
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to owners of ZAATEE AEEER
the Company
Issued capital BEITRA 25 10,324
Reserves 1 27 3,444,202
3,454,526
Non-controlling interests IR E S 1,606,550
Total equity BaEAE 5,061,076
Lo Kan Sun Chow Mun Yee
EEH BHR
Director Director

EBEF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EREEEHR

Year ended 31 March 2016 &2 = Z— N4 Z
Attributable to owners of the Company
ALRER AR
Available-
forsale
Share Share Capital investment  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium option ~ Warrant ~ redemption Distributable Special revaluation fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
pital  acount  reserve  reserve**  reserve  reserve  reserve’  reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
JRER  EREE HLERE
BRfRE RHEEER BREGE B A THARRE GHRE  EMEE MERDEE REEW A FERER  EREE
Notes HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
Mg A% B%Tn BMTn A%Tn RETn A%Tn BETn A%Tn B%Tn M BBTn BETn B%Tx
At 1 April 2014 RZZ-RERA-A 3441 1,648,745 - - 485 871,728 35131 26,510 (1773) 619950 3204217 - 3204217
Profitoss) for the year X”FM‘/ ER) - - - - - - - - - SB05 533005 (113454 419571
Other comprehensive incomel(loss for the year: A5 RAB2ERA/ (BE):
Avalable-for-sale investments: THHERE:
Change in far values 5 15 - - - - - - - 5,642 - - 5,642 (147) 5,495
Shate of ther comprehensive incomef(oss) of a joint  SEAR AT REELRLH2E
venture and an assodiate, net WA/ (BB)3E - - - - - - - 2,69 (2,002) - 693 - 693
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year TEE2EUA - - - - - - - 8,337 2002 533025 539360 (113601) 425759
Deemed disposals of partia interests in subsidiaries £ {Ed EHEADHH - - - - - (s0m) - (8,840) - - (289051) 1720151 1,431,100
Issues of bonus shares ik 25(a) 6,883 - - - - - - - - 6,383) - - -
At 31 March 2015 RZE-R%=R=1-H 10324 1,648,745+ -+ -+ 485 591,517 35,131 26,007 (3775 1,146,002 3454526  1,606550 5,061,076
At 1 April 2015 R-Z-14mA-A 10324 1,648,745 - - 485 591517 35131 26,007 (3775 114609 345456 1606550 5,061,076
Profitoss) for the year REREH/ (B8) - - - - - - - - - (6209%) (620,99 243530 (377466)
Other comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year: ~— REREB2ERA/ (B8):
Avalable-for-ale investments: —J‘Fﬁﬁh g
Change in fair values 15 - - - - - - - 35,455 - - 35,455 23,129 58,584
Reclassification of cumulative gains to the ] |
consolidated statement of profit or loss 15 - - - - - - - (48,779) - - (@879 (31822 (80,601)
Share of other comprehensive incomefloss) of joint ~ HE4 2R AR~
ventures and an associate, net E2ERA/ ( E - - - - - - - (1320) 3839 - (9371) - (9371)
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year RERRENN/ (BE) 48 - - - - - - - (2653) 3839 (62099)  (B43.691) 234837 (408,854
Deemed acquisition of non-controlling interests ~ EEMEFIERIER - - - - - (T8 - - - - (374651 (3585)  (610,506)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi aREs - - - - - - - - - - - (51196 (511,926)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders F Mx?ﬁ\ B8 - - - - - - - - - - - (1,093,606) (1,093,606)
Issue of equity-settled share options tEERE 26 - - 23,082 - - - - - - - 23,08 - 23,082
Issue of warrants ; - - - 20,648 - - - - - - 20,648 - 20,648
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible notes W—Hﬁﬁx-ﬁﬂﬁ"‘ Bl 4000 596,000 - - - - - - - - 600,000 - 600,000
Share issue expenses BRI - (15,000 - - - - - - - - (15,000 - (15,000
31 March 2016 RZE-7F=f=1-R 14324 2,229,745+ 23,082 20,648* 485¢  216,866* 35,131* (527) 64*  525096* 3,004,914 - 3064914
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * u;tiﬁ%ﬁ HEAEGABIRABEAN T L EH
HK$3,050,590,000 (2015: HK$3,444,202,000) in the consolidated & 5 #£3.050,590,00070 ( — B — A 4F : B
statement of financial position. 3,444,202,00073 ) o
# The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the # REBIERIEEEREEFEZERAT ZRAR
aggregate amount of the share capital and share premium account of a B HEBEZAEHEAANTNR— LA _FIRE
company which was the former holding company of the Group and the EFEEAMBRITRO ZEEY =58
nominal value of the Company's shares issued pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1992.
** * %

The warrant reserve of the Group represents the aggregate
consideration for the issue of 1,376,551,640 warrants ("First
Warrants") and 688,275,820 warrants ("Second Warrants"), both of
which were issued at HK$0.01 each on 26 June 2015. The First
Warrants and Second Warrants entitled the holders to subscribe for
1,376,551,640 and 688,275,820 ordinary shares at subscription prices
of HK$0.43 (adjusted: HK$0.382) and HK$0.55 (adjusted: HK$0.489)
each, respectively during the period of two years commencing from the
date of issue. During the year, no warrant was exercised.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

NEBZ RREE M IEE171,376,551,64010
Rk EE ([EHRREE]) 2688,275,8201)
RIEE (B RREE]) 28RE Mt
RREBON —_E—RFENA -+ BRBE
0.01LEB1T- BBITHHBIMFERERN  Fit
RREBRFE_MRBREZDRE TIHE AR
F AR RBED BB E0.4370 (KHAE B
0.3827T) M B #0.557C (#&LA% - B0, 4897%)
R E51,376,551,640% 2 688,275,8200%

Bo N WERREEEITE -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
REBRERER

Year ended 31 March 2016 EZE-—F—NF=A=+—HIFZ

Notes
Mgk
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEEBELCRENE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRAET/ (BR)
Adjustments for: FUATEE EHAE:
Finance costs BERA 7
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and AEEERAREERA ZEHNREETE
associates, net 14
Interest income FEWA
Deprediation bin3 6
Fair value gains on investments at fair value BRERNATEIR 2 RE 2 DT ERE
through profit or loss, net HE
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE-BNBARCESR 6
Deemed losses on changes in shareholding REERTRBERR RERY LR 1E
interests in joint ventures and associates, net FEFE 6
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and HEVE BERRERR N
equipment 5
Write-off of items of property, plant and MEnE BERAEEE
equipment 6
Equity-settled share option expense NEREEERE/HX 6
Gain on disposal of available-forsale investments, — HEAEHERE 2 WFFH
net 5

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable

Decrease/(increase) in loans receivable

Increase in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Decrease/(increase) in investments at fair value
through profit or loss

Increase in accounts payable

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest received

Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

BUEH S/ (£m)
BRERH S/ (1)
BNHE Ze REGEYNGUREN

ERBENATEIRZRERS/ (E1)

MR
EtbERRERE BREN/ (D)

BEMEL/ (MBR)ARE
BEHHE

BERHME

ER SR

LERBHMEL/ (FBR) L RLRETR

2016
ZE-RE
HK$'000
BRI

2015
—Z-1%
HK$'000
BBTT

462,387
7,105
5,539

(54,049)

1,120

(551,285)

1,068

(127,511)
8,462
(24,689)

(49,187)
(1,298,433)

959
797

(1,489,602)
27,204
(8,045)
(6,017)

(1,476,460)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2016 HZ=ZF— N+ =HA=+—HIFEF

2016

ZE-RE

Notes HK$'000
fizE BETR

Net cash flows from/(used) in operating
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Disposal of a subsidiary

Purchases of available-for-sale investments

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant
and equipment

Deposit received for proposed disposal of a
subsidiary

Deposit paid for an investment in a joint venture

Investment in a joint venture

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of warrants

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
Proceeds from issue of convertible notes
Proceeds from issue of new shares of a subsidiary
Share issue expenses

Drawdown of other borrowings

Repayment of other borrowings

Increase in margin loan borrowings, net

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and hank balances

-

EEEBMEL/ (FBR)ZRERETE

REEZDAELCRERE
RENE BERR
YR ELE
HE-HHELR
BEURNERE
HEAHHEREZFERE

HENS BERREAB ZFENR
SEZLE-AMEATRRz RS

AR-BMRERRARAXN EE
R-EREARIRE

b}

REERDMBRIREREFE

REFDFELCRERE
FTRRER ZHERE
YRR
MIFERBRXAZRE
RIUARRBHMETE
R-AMBLEHR AERE
B EITRX

ROEMER

EREMER
AREFREEEMIR

RERDFEL/ (MBR) L RERETHE

RERASEEMEN/ (HD)FE

ENZRERREFEN

FRZASRREEEN

RERRESEN GBI

ReRBTES

ﬁEEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

28

22

25(c)

2015
—Z-%%
HK$'000
BBTTL

(1,476,460)

(165)
(5.381)

(67,459)

1,431,100
320,492
(246,000)
37,372

1,542,964

(6,501)
57,160

50,659

50,659




CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at Room 2302,
23rd Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
and futures brokerage services, provision of placing,
underwriting and margin financing, the provision of insurance
brokerage and financial planning services, the provision of
corporate finance advisory services, the trading of securities
and futures, the provision of finance, as well as investment
holding.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

1.

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS 3R R B

31 March 2016 —%&

KFREEAH
RBECRERERAFRA—BRHEHS
MK Z2BRRAG AR ZEEZE
BN BB A B B B85 FEiE 023
12302 o

FRAEEIZRESRRGEE  BRER
HESMPEELCRS  RHES  B#H R
FREE RERREL K2R SRS -

RHCEBEERRYE EEEZMHE

REBMERIREEBER -

FRANBARZESR
ARAREEMBRARZFFBHT:

follows:

Place of Issued
incorporation ordinary Percentage of equity Principal
Name and operations share capital  attributable to the Company activities
#18 AR AR AL e i B ERTLERK ANFEEEZEAL FTEEY
Direct Indirect
H#E =3
Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$20,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
THARAT EBRUHE /&5 20,000,000 T REER
Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of
management services
REBAERAT N BT REERRS
Freeman Commodities Limited Hong Kong HK$35,000,000 - 100 Provision of futures
brokerage services
RAYEERAA N A 135,000,0007T REBPECLRE
Freeman Corporate Finance Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of corporate
Limited finance advisory
services
REGEREERAA e #%200,0007T RECEREBRRE
Freeman Corporation Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$38 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
REZRAB DA HERE /B 38ETT REER
Freeman Financial Investment Cayman Islands/ HK$48,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Corporation Hong Kong
Freeman Financial Investment HERE /B 7 #48,000,0007T KA

Corporation

RESHRERARA A
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Notes to Financial Statements

R R M

31 March 2016 ==

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

1. FREERH 2

(Continued)
Place of Issued
incorporation ordinary Percentage of equity Principal
Name and operations share capital  attributable to the Company activities
% SRR L B BRTEBRA RAREGEZADL TEER
Direct Indirect
¢ &
Freeman Financial Services Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Limited
RELRMRBERAF Fi&  #%10,000,0007C REER
Freeman Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000,000 - 100 Securities brokerage,
placing, underwriting,
margin financing,
investment holding
and trading of
securities
RREZBRAR (ABREE &% 75%1,000,000,0007T BRAL RS 2
FERDE) FRRE REERK
Freeman United Investments Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
Limited
Freeman United Investments e BB REBR
Limited
Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000,002 - 100 Provision of finance
EBEMBERAR &% B1400,000,0027T RHEE
Harvest Financial Services Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of brokerage
Limited services, financial
planning and related
services
EHREHREERAA £ 75#200,0007T REC LIRS B R E
KRR R
Smart Jump Corporation British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Trading in securities
Hong Kong
Smart Jump Corporation EERELES/BR EI EHBE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

EREINZARBMBRAREERRY
AEEZAFEREATERELBAA
SEEEFETIZARBO 2MBATR -
E=ZRR WEEMHBERAR ZFERE

BEHRFEBNITE-



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-
sale investments and investments at fair value through profit or
loss which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2016.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The nature and the impact of each amendment is described
below:

(@)  Amendments to HKAS 19 apply to contributions from
employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. The
amendments simplify the accounting for contributions
that are independent of the number of years of employee
service, for example, employee contributions that are
calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. If the
amount of the contributions is independent of the
number of years of service, an entity is permitted to
recognise such contributions as a reduction of service cost
in the period in which the related service is rendered. The
amendments have had no impact on the Group as the
Group does not have defined benefit plans.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number
of HKFRSs. Details of the amendments that are effective
for the current year are as follows:

o HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an
entity must disclose the judgements made by
management in applying the aggregation criteria in
HKFRS 8, including a brief description of operating
segments that have been aggregated and the
economic characteristics used to assess whether the
segments are similar. The amendments also clarify
that a reconciliation of segment assets to total
assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating
decision maker. The amendments have had no
impact on the Group.

o HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and HKAS
38 Intangible Assets: Clarifies the treatment of gross
carrying amount and accumulated depreciation or
amortisation of revalued items of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. The
amendments have had no impact on the Group as
the Group does not apply the revaluation model for
the measurement of these assets.

o HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures: Clarifies that a
management entity (i.e., an entity that provides key
management personnel services) is a related party
subject to related party disclosure requirements. In
addition, an entity that uses a management entity is
required to disclose the expenses incurred for
management services. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group as the Group does not receive
any management service from other entities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(©)  The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle
issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. Details of the amendments that are effective for the
current year are as follows:

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that joint
arrangements but not joint ventures are outside the
scope of HKFRS 3 and the scope exception applies
only to the accounting in the financial statements of
the joint arrangement itself. The amendment is
applied prospectively. The amendment has had no
impact on the Group as the Company is not a joint
arrangement and the Group did not form any joint
arrangement during the year.

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. Clarifies that the
portfolio exception in HKFRS 13 can be applied not
only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also
to other contracts within the scope of HKFRS 9 or
HKAS 39 as applicable. The amendment is applied
prospectively from the beginning of the annual period
in which HKFRS 13 was initially applied. The
amendment has had no impact on the Group as the
Group does not apply the portfolio exception in HKFRS
13.

HKAS 40 Investment Property: Clarifies that HKFRS 3,
instead of the description of ancillary services in HKAS
40 which differentiates between investment property
and owner-occupied property, is used to determine if
the transaction is a purchase of an asset or a business
combination. The amendment is applied prospectively
for acquisitions of investment properties. The
amendment has had no impact on the Group as there
was no acquisition of investment property by the
Group.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) relating
to the disclosure of financial information with reference to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current
financial year. The main impact to the financial statements is on
the presentation and disclosure of certain information in the
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments?
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception!

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts®

Revenue from Contracts with Customers®

Leases*

Disclosure Initiative’

Disclosure Initiative?

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses®

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements'

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

° Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and

therefore is not applicable to the Group

6 Originally effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2016, which has been deferred/removed and the

adoption of the amendments continues to be permitted. A new

effective date of the amendments will be determined at a future

date

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant impact on its

financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures and an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in joint ventures and an associate are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of the associate and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associate or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associate or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associate or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in joint ventures and an associate (Continued)
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or join control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognised any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS 3R R B

31 March 2016 —%&

24FERHBRCEE &)

REERAR-—BBREQRAZRE (&)
HRBERBZREZERNAEERAZR
B HBEBARBER MITEEHMAERE
BE- Rz ZREEERBESEAK:
EMBEEMIBERT BEAREREHHZ
RAEZBAZENRHEERR 2 HRE
HiE Qg AT EFERERTMNRE
RE - REHBMERFTZEAZENIRIYH
BERRZHARENESBREQTREE
RAZEHEERBEREAFERBEMN
SREZEZEMEZEN B QER -

EBEHREE
EBAMRAERBEAK MEERER
WHE BN R EE IARRE KK
BIRBEAFEEREE KNEBEMARE
B B 15 DA B AN S T S 0 B RS W O 9 I
PREsfTRER YR B Bl 2 A EAM - %
REBEXBAM AEEANEENAFE
S B T R BRI B AR E R IS LB
SRERRKE T IR s - AR s
BREEE ARZ XY TERAEALER
BE AR PN (HEEFE - JFERER
A EMARE D BR A FESE W
BHEBRARELRFERX -

REB KB RGE  FhH SR EE K&
FEaE FTUERERGER  WEERNE
BRI SR AR RR IR E B D B R e E
® BRI BMEEEL TR 0T HERA
AOTETEA

= XG0k BUETT - B ST AN A #F AR HE
BRWEBRAFEENE MEMEL
EENRAEHLEENIERER -

WETHEZENRAKERKEEBZR
FEER IAREIEREEXEE T
BAVEFE MAFEZPHNEDE
ReNBEREGNIARETGENFE
REBEERESAAR-

RESHRERARA A

58



54

Notes to Financial Statements

Jﬁﬁ%%?

31 March 2016 ==

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interest and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its available-for-sale investments and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2AFEEHBRECEHE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 15%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%

Computer equipment 33'5%

Yacht 10%

Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Trading rights

Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and The Hong Kong Futures Exchange with
indefinite useful lives. They are carried at cost less any
impairment losses.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded
at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

24FE®

Notes to Financial Statements

1 i& $b’z 2% Bﬁ at

31 March 2016 =%

..’ri&%Z#EEE

m

BREE (BERM)

{8 5l W s 2 488 T2 & BE TR H) 20 FE AR S R B AR
AEREBAHTRBZETLEEZK
ARRYBERZATFE-BVEEZT
FERFRLFERERAER-

ERERAERFHZELEERER K
BERSELREUERESFETHERND -
REBTLEETFEHE AREEEFE
MARERFHZENEECAERSE
B UETERFHZAEEERESE-
MAEE AERFHFASAERSER
HABRFHY UIREHEEAR-

XEE
RHEEARKEBELEHRERXHMER
DA (B2 ]) RBEBHRERZGMEEZ
BN SIFABERAERFHY AU
AN Sk A e ek 1B 5 1B 51 B o

KehE
EEEMARE BRI & AR
?%ﬁﬁk%rﬁﬁk%ﬂﬁ%éﬁ% R
BEREHVENEeRNEARNRERER
BaERME-

RERHMEREE
AL BB R i E
AEEZEREENTTERRDE/E
BEANAFEIGZEBREE %ﬁ
RUFKBEARAIHEESREE (RIB)
ME) - & B EEN T HERR AR %@m
W%%ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁz XA E - S
BIEZARNFEIGZEBREERIN -

FIENEEFRNEECEREENRS
(B AR EBFEH %A&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁﬁ
ReAEBHANBEE B UABERT SR G
BERBETMENEAARNEECZAFAESE
TREE-

RESHRERARA A

508



60

Notes to Financial Statements
R EL

31 March 2016 ==

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. These net fair value changes do not include any dividends
on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the
host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading
or designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
statement of profit or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported
as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the
range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating
fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets for

the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is

reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of

the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’'s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of profit
or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of profit
or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the
investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the
fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the
statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial

recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable

transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,

cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as
to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) income from the sale of equity and debt securities, on a
trade-date basis;

(b) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset;

(d) insurance brokerage income, on the inception of the
associated insurance policy;

(e) corporate finance advisory income, when the relevant
service has been rendered;

(f)  commission and brokerage income from securities and
futures dealings, on a trade-date basis; and

(g) underwriting and placing commission income, when the
relevant service has been rendered.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
(including the Company’s directors and other employees of the
Group and of the investee entities, and any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business partners of any member of
the Group or any investee entity), who render services and/or
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) and advisors of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model. In
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the services received
at the date they are received. Where the market information
for the services provided by non-employees cannot be reliably
determined, the fair value of the share options granted at the
date when the services are received is applied as a surrogate
measure. In this case, the fair value of the share options is
determined by external valuers using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expenses is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service

conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employees/advisors as measured at

the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described

in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per

share.

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Share-based payments”

above.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of loans receivable

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss
arising from the inability of its borrowers to make the required
payments. The Group makes its estimates based on the ageing
of its loans receivable balances, borrowers’ creditworthiness
and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of
its borrowers was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment
loss might be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance and its
future results would be affected.

Impairment of accounts receivable

The provision for impairment of accounts receivable of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectibility and the
ageing analysis of the receivables and on the judgement of
management. A considerable amount of judgement is required
in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of the customers. Management reassesses the
estimation regularly throughout the reporting period.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment
that should be recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets including investment in an
associate and a joint venture are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Measurement of unlisted investments at fair value

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market are estimated by management based on the
valuation performed by independent qualified valuers by using
valuation techniques that require various sources of
information and assumptions. The carrying amount of the
Group's unlisted investment at fair value through profit or loss
as at 31 March 2015 was approximately HK$84,519,000. The
Group also had an unlisted available-for-sale investment stated
at fair value with a carrying amount of HK$52,000,000 as at
31 March 2015. The Group had no unlisted investments stated
at fair value as at 31 March 2016. Further details are given in
notes 15 and 19 to these financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 March 2016 was HK$1,372,175,000 (2015:
HK$1,365,945,000). Further details are contained in note 24 to
these financial statements.

3.

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS 3R R B

31 March 2016 —%&

FEErHAER MGt (=)

CEROEEE P,

HEHEERE
AEERERERNRFGMEFEREE
ELFEEABRETR BEEERFHZ
BREESSFRAERRERR 2EM
BREGETRERR Hi e REE (218
REERAINEZERBZRE)MRHER
FREE AT RE AW @ 2 IR R B 7T R (E R
A-BEERRSELBM 2REEBLY
HA ol 258 (AR 2B & AR
ERBEMEZRSE)R FHEEXR
TEEBMAHEIRE - A FER L EX
ATRBUERABEEAFRBIZEHRN
RERFRBERAIBEMSERRELE
BEZRIEKAFE FTEEREER &
BELAMGTKEEREEIRCELE
fNzBMAKRRERE WEEABMER
R ERFREREZRE-

U’AFEIERZH#EFFTREZNE
WEMNERMZEECERMT AL ATEAE
MEREEREBEE LA ERGEMER SR
ZIEE R R R R 2 HERITTETHM
BT - N E—RFE=A=+—08"
NEEFBEZARNFENEZIELTE
BEIRMEEY BB 84,519,000 R =&
—HAFZAZ=Z+—H AEETAEUAF
BHRZIELMAHRBERE HEME
A 75 152,000,000 e A ZFE — NF = A
=+ —H AEEVEZAFEYE I
ITHERE - E—TFBIRZETHFHRE
MEE155219 ©

EEHEBEELEE

B BEEENMERDAEHEBEM
R AR BERT RN AE
BEEREAR AETN THERCEL
RBEEEgREE EREARE R TR
RO FERBRF 2 B K E A8 B R R SR Fd
BBl RBIERERABH - N T — XF
“A=T—H AERVNEEEREE
1,372,175,000ic (ZE—RHF: K
1,365,945,00070) - #E — FFBENZE
B R R M 524 -

RESHRERARA A

75



76

Notes to Financial Statements

R R M

31 March 2016 ==

4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) trading of securities and futures segment engages in the
purchase and sale of securities and futures investments;

(b) provision of finance segment engages in provision of
financing services in Hong Kong;

(c) insurance brokerage business segment engages in
insurance brokerage business and provision of financial
planning and related services;

(d) securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing in Hong Kong;

(e) investment holding segment engages in holding
investments for continuing strategic or long term
purposes, primarily for their dividend income and capital
appreciation; and

(f)  corporate finance advisory segment engages in provision
of corporate finance advisory services and related
activities.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that bank and
other interest income (excluding interest income from provision
of finance and margin financing activities), finance costs as well
as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESHEEH o)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2016/As at 31 March 2016 BE-_E—XRF=ZA=+—BLEE R
—E-RE=ZA=+—H
Securities
and futures
brokerage,
placing,
Trading of Insurance  underwriting Corporate
securities  Provision  brokerage and margin  Investment finance
and futures  of finance business  financing holding advisory Total
BER
A — EE% ' Al =1,
BER N RBAL BER ‘ TERE
HEEE  RimE £ FEBE  REBR B &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETn  A¥In  E¥Tn BETn E¥Tn EBTx
Segment revenue: MEbE
Sales to external customers GHEEP S (318,876) 36,122 76,406 56,446 - 5950 (143,952)
Intersegment sales PERBE - - - 21,000 - - 21,000
(318,876) 36,122 76,406 77,446 - 5,950 (122,952)
Reconcillation: FE:
Elimination of intersegment sales PEREENHS (21,000)
Total revenue st (143,952)
Segment results PEXE (197,691) 34,837 4,425 28293 (253982) 5,853 (378,265)
Reconcillation: HE:
Bank interest income RITHEHA 1
Other interest income EHEMA 304
Corporate and other unallocated expenses & RE#ADEFX (17,580)
Finance costs BEMK (9,085)
Loss before tax BHRAEE (404,625)
Other segment information: AR EER:
Share of profits and losses of joint MERELRR-HBELT
ventures and an associate, net BHREREFE - - - - (215,959) - (215,959)
Depreciation i
- operating segment -8E8 - - - (184) (4,029) - (4,213)
- unallocated KR (13)
(4,936)
Investments in joint ventures and an Regrak-RABERAZ
associate RE - - - - 837,260 - 837,260
Capital expenditure BREY
- operating segment -BEE - - - 504 84,544 - 85,048
- unallocated L 65
85,113+
* Capital expenditure represented additions to property, plant and * EARYIEABYE WEREREB-
equipment.

RBEEWMERAR2XT 77
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Year ended 31 March 2015/As at 31 March 2015

4.

EESWREH 2

BE-_Z—-RE=B=+—HILEE R
—E-FF=A=+—8H

Securities
and futures
brokerage,
placing,
Insurance  underwriting Corporate
Trading of Provision ~ brokerage  and margin  Investment finance
securities  of finance business ~financing holding advisory Total
EE
Heagg
) EE o
. B RBAL BER \ TEUE
EREE  RURE X% AERE  RABR B b
HSOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSDOO  HKSO00 K000
AEFr BT RETr A%fr BT EETr A%Tn
Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to external customers UNIEF 2iE (112067) 27,662 2585 3859 - 9252 (14976)
Intersegment sales PEREE - - - - - - -
(112,067) 27,662 21,585 38,592 - 9,252 (14,976)
Reconcillation: HE
Elimination of intersegment sales PRREEYH -
Total revenue st (14,976)
Segment results TEXE 426,395 25471 1,325 35,251 (9,223) 9,130 488,349
Reconcillation: HE
Bank interest income RITHERA 2
Other interest income EHEMA 2,305
Corporate and other unallocated expenses & RE#ADEFX (20,564)
Finance costs RERE (7,705)
Profit before tax SNl 462,387
Other segment information: HppEEH
Share of profits and losses of a joint AE-RegRhak-Ake
venture and an associate NaEHREE - - - - (5539) - (5,539)
Depreciation i
- operating segment -BENE - - - (349) - - (349)
- unallocated -RAR (771)
(1,120)
Investment in a joint venture R-HEBREZRE - - - - 1000814 - 1,000814
Capital expenditure BRAY
- operating segment -BENE - - - 1,470 - - 1,470
- unallocated -AARE 9
1,562+
* Capital expenditure represented additions to property, plant and * BABELIEREDE BEMREHEUARE

equipment and intangible assets including assets from the

acquisition of a subsidiary.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Geographical information

(@) The Group's revenue is derived from its external
customers in Hong Kong.

(b)  Non-current assets

4.

Notes to Financial Statements
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BEYBREHE #)

& & B
(@) AKBEZRFZREEBBINGES -

(b) FRBEE

2016 2015
—E-REF —E—hF
HK$ 000 HK$'000
BET T BET T

Hong Kong B

The non-current asset information above is based on the
location of assets and excludes financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from major customers which
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue for
the year:

1,004,307

EERBEEEMABEMELR
Rz EPETERSRMTEMEL
MIEEE -

FBRXEEZFHNESR
BREXREBIERPZWE &HAKH
AEEKREBEBI0% :

2015
—E—hF
HK$'000
BET T

Insurance brokerage business R L ET
Customer A BEEA
Customer B %P8

The Group’s dividend income and losses from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are excluded
from total revenue for the purpose of identifying major
customers of the Group who accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

13,249
N/A i

AEEREBARKEHEEBBRIUR
FEIKZRE ZBBR TR A SRS #
B AEE 2T BEP  HEAKER
MEAB10% °

- 2 R
" S
RESHE ﬁrﬁéa\




Notes to Financial Statements
Bt 7% 3 3} B &

31 March 2016 —F—~NF=HA=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.
Revenue represents interest income earned from provision of
finance; dividend income from investments at fair value
through profit or loss; net losses from the sale of investments
at fair value through profit or loss; insurance brokerage
income; corporate finance advisory fee; commission and
brokerage income from securities and futures dealings;
commission from underwriting and placing services; and
interest income on margin financing activities during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

Briz HAdr A K ix &2
WEEFERREBENGZFBRA E
BRBUATEIRZREZRBHBA
HEBBEEUATEIEZREZER
FERBELCKA CEREENE: &
S$REEEERSRELEA: BHERE
ERBAS ARFRBEARYE 2R B
Ae

e A R W=z DT -
2016 2015

—E—hF
HK$'000
BT T

HK$’000
BET T

Note
(i

Revenue U =

Interest income from provision of finance 2 & & Fr 5 H B U A

Dividend income from investments at fair & @I85 A A FEY 2R E
value through profit or loss Z BB A

Losses from the sale of investments at  HEFBIBZ AR FETIEZ
fair value through profit or loss, net ®EZEEFE (M)
(note)

Insurance brokerage income REgag LA

Corporate finance advisory fee TrEREEME

Commission and brokerage income from #F&5&HEEEME LELD
securities and futures dealings A

Commission from underwriting and B kS REHE

placing services
Interest income on margin financing
activities

FREE RS ZHEKRA

HAb W A K& Wz

RITH B UA

HF B A

P BB IR B e Ho A 0

Other income and gains

Bank interest income

Other interest income

Dividend handling charge and other
surcharges

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments, net

Gain on disposal of items of property,

HE AT HEIRE 2 W F R
HEWE BEMRERE Z

plant and equipment Wz
Others Hh
Note: The gross proceeds from sale of investments at fair value

through profit or loss for the year were approximately
HK$3,185,830,000 (2015: HK$592,101,000).
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27,662
80,098
(192,165)

21,585
9,252

4,976
9,536

24,080

(14,976)

15

M FAREEBEZARAFENRZERE
FT1S 3B A% 4 A5 3,185,830,0007T
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. FRMEAT (1)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBZBRHRAEN, (BE)EMNER,/
(crediting): GPNE
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E—REF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BET T
Depreciation e 12 1,120
Employee benefit expenses (excluding  EE®AMHX (TEEEEM
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): % (KIzE8) ) -
Salaries and allowances e koERM 7,283
Retirement benefit scheme RIREF TSR
contributions (defined contribution (EEEMHRETE) *
scheme)* 266
7,549
Auditors’ remuneration 1Z 260 B 2,450
Minimum lease payments under BBELEHEL 2 ZEEEFKE
operating leases 7,625
Equity-settled share option expense NS EERE 2 X 26 -
Write-off of items of property, plant and Hfi 84 ¥1 % - B = & R & 1E B
equipment 4
Deemed losses on changes in RE &R R LB E QR 2 Rk
shareholding interests in joint ventures &) 7 (R {EE 1B FEE**
and associates, net** 1,068

Gain on disposal of items of property, LEWME KERRHBEE 2

plant and equipment Wz 5
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary** HE—MMBAR ZEIEx 28
* At 31 March 2016, the Group had no material forfeited *

contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
retirement benefit scheme in future years (2015: Nil).

**  These balances are included in “Other expenses, net” in the * %
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

RZZE—RF=ZRA=+—8 AEEILE
BB A BRR D ERREF 2R
RENFEHER(ZF—RF ) -

HEERTFIAGERERTZ [HBH
XOFEIA-

FINANCE COSTS 7. MEBERSE

2016 2015
—E—RE —T—hHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Interests on other loans EMERZFE

\

7,705
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8.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

EFMN&

TH/BELTRA FERBGEME
383(1)(a)~ (b) (QRDER AR (HEEE
Mzm BB RO E2HRE 2 FRNEFH

Gl

2016 2015

—E-RE —E-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Fees e 600 790

Other emoluments: HAab B -

Salaries and other benefits FraekHEMmER 4,114 4,377
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRREFGFEHER (TBEHK

(defined contribution scheme) =HE) 120 119

Equity-settled share option expense NESEEBRE X 6,708 -

10,942 4,496

11,542 5,286

During the year, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set
out in note 26 to the financial statements. The fair value of
such options, which has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above directors’
remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

FA-ETESREARRBRET S5
MER/NEENRGER TRERE £—
/Ei’liﬁﬁﬁﬁ%i&iwﬁ%% % E B ARE

R BEaRER EAFEDIRELY
ZElg AR FEMBEBRERN S A
SR EXCREANE S -

(a) BYFHITES
FRACNBIFATEETZ2HE I

during the year were as follows: T
2016 2015
—E-RF —ET—hF
Fees Fees
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping SREEF LA 120 120
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun BEBEE 120 120
Mr. Hung Cho Sing R kA 240 240
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quel& & 120 120
600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRNWEEMNBIIENTES 2 EM

independent non-executive directors during the year
(2015: Nil).

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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8. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEM& ~»
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HMITEEKRIEHTESE
Equity-
Retirement settled
Salaries benefit share
and other scheme option Total
Fee benefits contributions expense remuneration

FER BHBEN  UERER
e Hitnfg Al SRR BREZHX e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRETT BRI BRETT BRI

2016 ZE-RE

Executive directors: HITES:

Mr. Lo Kan Sun EEMEE - 1,008 50 - 1,058

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei FERLE - 1,518 18 3,354 4,890

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R &L+ - 678 34 - 712

Ms. Chow Mun Yee PR A - 910 18 3,354 4,282

- 4114 120 6,708 10,942

2015 1%

Executive directors: HITER:

Mr. Lo Kan Sun EEMEE - 1,008 50 - 1,058

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei FERLE - 1,726 18 - 1,744

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R &R+ - 678 34 - 712

Ms. Chow Mun Yee e Gl - 965 17 - 982

- 4377 119 - 4,496

Non-executive directors: FHTES:

Mr. Andrew Liu* B kL 95 - - - 95

Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston* BeELE? 95 - - - 95
190 - - - 190
190 4,377 119 - 4,686

#* Resigned during the year ended 31 March 2015 PREECTE-RAF=A=T—HILFE

BT

There was no arrangement under which a director waived FRANEEAZEETNEXRBENER

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year ANENLH (ZE—RF &) -

(2015: Nil).

No non-executive director was appointed during the year HE-_Z—R"F=ZA=+—HILF

ended 31 March 2016. B WEERITEEERT-
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AfiEEHESR
The five highest paid employees during the year included four FARfIERFEERENN(ZE—H
(2015: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set FOM)EE EMEFBEERA LXMW
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year e FNBM TN (ZF—RF: —f) I
of remaining one (2015: one) highest paid employee who is RRREE e EECHWEFBN
not a director of the Company is as follows: T~
2016 2015
ZE-RF —E-1fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other benefits e REMER 816
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIH 18
834
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 10. R SMMAX (ES)
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% EEMNEH IR E165% (ZE—H
(2015: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in F:16.5% ) MFEARBABEE 2 (HETER
Hong Kong during the year. T AR -
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current — Hong Kong KE— B
Charge for the year REEZH 964
Overprovision in prior years BAEFEREEE (384)
Deferred (note 24) RAE (Mi5E24) 42,236
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year AEEHBEI N, (KE) @5 42,816

‘84 FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) 10. FRGMBAX (ER) ()
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/ T ABEEBEZETETE 2R AR
(loss) before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax S (EB)BERAZBERSZ (Ee) BB
charge/(credit) at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows: REBEBRRRAEZHRES L (BR)
ZHBR:
2016 2015
—-NE 0%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BRE AR, (ER) 462,387
Tax charge/(credit) at the Hong Kong statutory 2B B AT R E16.5%:t B2
tax rate of 16.5% BPEL/ (E%) 76,294
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous % AT AR 2 BRI B 2 B
periods (384)
Income not subject to tax BERT 2 WA (13,967)
Expenses not deductible for tax TAMBHX 457
Temporary differences not recognised ABACERZR 61
Tax losses utilised from previous periods DRBERECHBER (40,301)
Tax losses not recognised ﬂiﬁﬁ RLBBER 19,742
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 21 é.\%?} ARBERAIREL
and associates METE 914
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's effective tax ~ B ASE 2 BB H K6.71%
rate of 6.71% (2015: 9.26%) (ZZ—HF:926%):tE2Z
BEZH,/ (H%) 42,816
The share of tax credit attributable to an associate amounting DIE—HEBEARIZHIEBEE 2 BEE
to HK$19,000 (2015: tax charge of HK$6,307,000) and share 19,000 (ZE—hF - HMEXEHBEK
of tax charge attributable to a joint venture amounting to 6,307,0007T) Rt —Hea & AR 2HIE
HK$181,000 (2015: Nil), respectively are included in ‘'Share of Y ABE181,000 (ZE— A F:
profits and losses of joint ventures and associates, net” in the B) BEAREERE_T-—REF=ZA=+—
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 HiIEFEzHmeEarmk 2 [HhEEaE AR
March 2016. NEERE RN M ERFE] A -
11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE MNFLFBERESBTEARLS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY BEF(BR)
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share (a) EREXEBAN(FE)
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share FREABF,(FE)EREHIRA
amounts is based on the loss for the year attributable to NAIEBRERE ARIGAFEER
ordinary equity holders of the Company of 75%620,996,000C (ZZF—HF : ;&
HK$620,996,000 (2015: profit of HK$533,025,000), and A 78 #533,025,0000) A R EAD
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of BT BR 2 MNE T
10,335,066,262 (2015: 10,324,137,300) in issue during 10,335,066,2628% (=& — 1 F:
the year. 10,324,137,3000% ) 1 & -
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11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

12.

M. FAFIEERESEAELS
BRER(BE) &)

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) ERBERAN (FE)
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share TERBE_Z—R"F=A=1T—H
amount presented for the year ended 31 March 2016 in IFFEERNESREAREIBREEL
respect of a dilution as the impact of First Warrants and AT RARKTENEMRR
share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on EEREREST2MNTRERE
the basic loss per share amount presented, or the exercise BeEEABRBESE FRNEZ
price of Second Warrants was higher than the average HRBREBTEESNARFEBR
market price of the ordinary shares of the Company BFATmERE _HRREZEMZ
during the year and Second Warrants had no dilutive WHEREANBEHETREES Y
effect on the basic loss per share amount presented. Zo
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in HEz—_Z—HRF=-A=+—81Lt*F
issue during the year ended 31 March 2015. B AEEWEETERBERE .
=il
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. MR -BER®RM
Furniture,
Leasehold  fixtures and Computer
improvements  equipment  equipment Yacht Total
HENE  HWEE
®1 NET ] ENR i i m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BT T BETT BT T
31 March 2016 “Z-X"§¥=ZA=+-H
At 1 April 2015: RZE-—RAFMHA—A:
Cost A 714 5,201 1,692 - 7,607
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (694) (3,670) (1,486) - (5,850)
Net carrying amount REFE 20 1,531 206 - 1,757
At 1 April 2015, net of R_F-RAFMA—A"
accumulated depreciation MK EFHE 20 1,531 206 - 1,757
Additions NE - 40 529 84,544 85,113
Disposal HE - - - (80,515) (80,515)
Depreciation provided during the R Z HEEE
year (20) (683) (204) (4,029) (4,936)
At 31 March 2016, net of RZB—"$=A=1+—H"
accumulated depreciation MR 2EHTE - 888 531 - 1,419
At 31 March 2016: RZE—R¥
=A=t+-A:
Cost A 714 5,241 2,221 - 8,176
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (714) (4,353) (1,690) - (6,757)
Net carrying amount RHETE - 888 531 - 1,419

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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31 March 2016 —ZF—X : A

12.9% - BERKW 2

(Continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold  fixtures and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Yacht Total
HEME  BA-EE
K& B BME e ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BETT BB BETT
31 March 2015 —Z-Rf=ZA=1+-H
At 1 April 2014 RZZ-NENA—R:
Cost A 714 5,200 1,558 - 7,472
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (457) (2,952) (1,347) - (4,756)
Net carrying amount EEFE 257 2,248 211 - 2,716
At 1 April 2014, net of RZZ-NENA—R:
accumulated depreciation Mk EHNE 257 2,248 211 - 2,716
Additions NE - 2 163 - 165
Write-off G| - (M (3) - (4)
Depreciation provided during the — F R Z T E&
year (237) (718) (165) - (1,120)
At 31 March 2015, net of R-Z—hF=R=1+—H"
accumulated depreciation MG RHTE 20 1,531 206 - 1,757
At 31 March 2015: R-Z-—RF=A=1—A:
Cost A 714 5,201 1,692 - 7,607
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (694) (3,670) (1,486) - (5,850)
Net carrying amount REFE 20 1,531 206 - 1,757
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13.EEEE
Trading rights RHHE

HK$'000
BT T
Cost at 1 April 2014 RZE—WmFEMA—HZKA 339
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y i — I B B & ) 1,397

Cost at 31 March 2015, at 1 April 2015 and at R—E—hRF=A=+—H Z%F—H

31 March 2016 FOA—BERZE—R"F=ZA=+—
B2 R 1,736

The trading rights have been considered to have indefinite lives
because they are expected to contribute to the net cash flows

of the Group indefinitely, and are not amortised.

14. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN

14.

RIBEBERBERERFH AAEY
UAEEZFHREREZERMILERS)
UL 4 8 5 o

REBELFR—MBELTRZ

ASSOCIATE 3
2016 2015
—E-RF —ET—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Share of net assets of: DIHEEFE:
— Joint ventures — 5% RN7A 129,951 1,000,814
— An associate (2015: A joint venture) — —ABERQ
ZE-RF:—HEERA) 707,309 -
837,260 1,000,814
Particulars of the joint venture of the Group at 31 March 2016 R-TE—RNFZA=Z+—H AEELZ

are as follows:

ARZEEMT

Percentage of

Place of UTEEZEDEL
Particulars of incorporation Ownership Voting Profit
Name issued shares held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activity
e #17 ALK BEA
£ R =E SR i RERE mANAK TEXEK
FreeOpt Holdings Limited ~ Ordinary share Republic of Marshall 4155 33.33 41,55  Investment holding
(“FreeOpt") without par value Islands/ Hong Kong
FreeOpt Holdings Limited [ {H 2 & & & SRRBESENT RERR
([FreeOpt ) BB

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.
FreeOpt and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
investment holding and money lending business.

88 FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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14. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN 14. REEBAFIR—HEBEEARZ

ASSOCIATE (continued) BE 2

The financial results of FreeOpt are accounted for using equity FreeOpt 2 M5B TH AR A AR ©
method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial T3R5 RFreeOptz HBERRE (Bt
information of FreeOpt adjusted for any differences in ABEZEZREHAREL BEEE M E®E
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in FrEREEHR)

the consolidated financial statements:

2016
—E-RF
HK$'000
BT T
Current assets MEEE
Current liabilities mEAE
Net assets FEE

Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the joint venture: EAEB R AL N7 2 5 HE:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE AL
Carrying amount of the investment KERME
Revenue g &=
Loss for the period from 23 December 2015 ZE-RFTZ )EJ +=08 (F
(date of incorporation) to 31 March 2016 [DAVE=E--DEN —RNF=ZA=F+—H
HiF &R
The following table illustrates the Group's share of FreeOpt's TR IR AE B 515 FreeOpt,Z i F & &
profits and losses: B’
2016
—E-RE
HK$°000
BT T

Share of losses of a joint venture SiE—EEEAFEE -

Particulars of the associate of the Group at 31 March 2016 are RZE—RF=ZA=+—H KEE 8
as follows: BRRFFIBOT

Percentage of

Place of ownership interest
Particulars of incorporation attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business to the Group activity
FriFE 21T & B AL R REEENG
=X R =15 EE S E BEEANEZEOLE FEXK
Freewill Holdings Ordinary share Republic of Marshall 31.83 Investment holding
Limited (“Freewill”) without par value Islands/Hong Kong
Freewill Holdings EEEZ LTER SRBES MR BEER
Limited ( [Freewill |) %f/%
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14.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN

ASSOCIATE (continued)
Particulars of the joint venture of the Group at 31 March 2015
are as follows:

4. REELFIR—FAKRELTZ

®’E (&)
R-B-RE=A=+-0 AEEZA
PVNCE T R

Percentage of

Place of UT&EBEZES L

Particulars of incorporation Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name issued shares held and business power sharing activity

FRiFE 81T EER g vSd & A
=1 IRt # 15 = 3080 RERE DR EEER
Freewill Ordinary share Republic of Marshall 50.00 65.30 Investment

without par value Islands/Hong Kong holding
Freewill EEREZLER SRS HRME BEER
E

The above investment in an associate and a joint venture is
indirectly held by the Company and has been accounted for
using equity method in these consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the Group entered into a joint venture
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mason Financial
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Willie International
Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange) (the “Mason’s subsidiary”) and Freewill,
pursuant to which the Group and the Mason’s subsidiary
agreed to contribute or procure the contribution of their
respective holding of issued shares of HEC Capital Limited
("HEC") to Freewill in exchange for the same amount of new
shares to be allotted and issued by Freewill (the "JV
Contribution”). Further details of the JV Contribution were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 20 June
2014,

Upon completion of the JV Contribution in June 2014, all
shares of HEC previously held by the Group were transferred to
Freewill, the Group’s investment in HEC as an associate was
derecognised and the investment in Freewill was recognised as
an investment in a joint venture on the same date.

Despite the Group's holding of a 65.3% interest in Freewill, the
Group and the Mason’s subsidiary agreed that relevant
activities of Freewill required unanimous consent of the
shareholders. Accordingly, the Directors of the Company
considered that it was appropriate to account for the Group’s
interest in Freewill as a joint venture since the completion date
of the JV Contribution.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

PR —EBERR R —HEERRZER
EHARARAERE YO HEXFHRAY
R T AR

J\EA*”*EE/‘*\H CAEBEERESER
A A (RIEECR BR R B R AR - H R
Tﬁﬁ’\\ﬂﬁﬁxﬁﬁiﬁiim)Z—F'aﬁiéfﬁﬁ%@
Al (R B2 E)]) KFreewills] 32 — {7
GEWE Bl ~AEBEEREHRBAFR
Z % 8 FT#FHEC Capital Limited
([HEC ) B #TIRM)E ASKEFEEA
Freewill * LA X 3 Freewill i F Fid 3 2 217 2
RSB FRG ([EERFEE]) - BH
BEANBNEEZE—THBEREATAF
BHA-ZT—NFEA-+HZA M

AERNBEER T —NFNATHRE
AEBZAHE N BEHECHR K HEZET
Freewill» N EAHEC (1EA— B & A
A) 2 EB K IEER - MR Freewill 2 1%
ZARFABEREREERRIZRE -

BE N EBF B Freewill 2 65.3% % - A
EEEREMEB AR HE  Freewill Z 1878
EEALKBRE—BEE AL ARRES
RE BAERARIETKBHERAE
B Freewill Z B AR BEE R EB
BHE -



14.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (continued)

In July 2015, the joint venture arrangement between the Group
and the Mason’s subsidiary was terminated and new shares
were allotted and issued by Freewill to new investors on the
same day (the “JV Termination”), the Group’s shareholding
interest in Freewill was diluted to approximately 45.3%.
Accordingly, the investment in the joint venture was
derecognised and the investment in Freewill has then been
recognised as an investment in an associate since the
completion date of the JV Termination.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group's shareholding interest in
Freewill was diluted to approximately 31.83% after further
allotments of new ordinary shares to new investors by Freewill.
A net loss of approximately HK$88,188,000 was resulted from
the changes in the shareholding interests in Freewill during the
year and this amount was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2016.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Freewill and HEC adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements:

14. HEE

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS 3R R B

31 March 2016 —%

’\_J& ﬁﬂﬁ“'\_lz
®E
R-E— ﬁitﬂ CAEEERENER
RIZAELZTHE I KFreewil AR H A
FRAEERERBTIRG ([AERK
1E]) - N EE A Freewil |2 IR E# S = 4
453% o Ak B &R IEER B HLAK -
RAEEARZHREBRILEER MR
Freewill ZIREER DR AN —BBE R
AIZIE -

i Jr

RZZE—R"F=H=+—H" {EFreewill[d
MIEEFE— PR ENLEBRE  ~XEH

M Freewil 2 % #E #158 2 £931.83% ° 18
HRE 4 75 588,188,000 IV A £ AR
FreewillZ RESBMEL  ZoBREZE
—E-RNFEZA=tTBIFEZEAE

TR F RFreewil| RHECZ I B R &
(EReTHRZEZEFHARTEES
P HERR ZERAEYR)

2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current assets A E 2,521 -
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,454,654 1,532,640
Current liabilities mEasE (235,029) -
Net assets BEFE 2,222,146 1,532,640
Reconciliation to the Group's interest B 7K £ [ 7 Freewill 2 # 25 31 B -
in Freewill:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEEHEE LD 31.83% 65.30%
Carrying amount of the investment KERME 707,309 1,000,814
Revenue g (122,410)
Loss for the year KFEEIE (824,228) (118,489)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hie2mk A (EE) (27,966) 1,499
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFEE2HEEBER (852,194) (116,990)
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14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN 14. PEEBLATIR—RBREATZ

ASSOCIATE (Continued) B_E#)
During the period ended 20 June 2014, HEC generated a HE_ZT—WFAZ+HILERE HECE
revenue, profit after tax and other comprehensive income of FE - BRBERNREMEERASD A
HK$184,196,000, HK$367,626,000 and HK$412,000 75 #184,196,0007T * & #367,626,0007T &
respectively. 75 %412,0007T °
The following table illustrates the Group’s share of Freewill’s TRINRAEED (hFreewill RHECZ &
and HEC's profits and losses and other comprehensive income: REBAREMEEBA
2016 2015
—E-RF —ET—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Share of profits/(losses) of a joint venture ME—HEAEERRREF
(E18) (77,373)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates DR e AR F, (EE) 71,834
Share of losses of a joint venture and DE—HAEE QR RBE QT
associates, net BB TR (5,539)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) SME—HEE AR EMEEEKA
of a joint venture / (E518) 979
Share of other comprehensive loss of DIEEE AR EMEEER
associates (286)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) SMh—HEE AR REE AR
of a joint venture and associates, net Hip2EKRA S (EBEB)FHE 693
15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 15. T fHHERE
2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Listed equity investments at fair value FHRERE AT E 39,461
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value ELTMRERE  BRATE 52,000
91,461

ﬁ’z FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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15.

16.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2015, available-for-sale investments
represented the Group’s investments in listed and unlisted
equity securities which were neither classified as held for
trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss.

During the year, the fair value gain in respect of the Group’s
listed and unlisted available-for-sale investments recognised in
other comprehensive income amounted to approximately
HK$58,584,000 (2015: HK$5,495,000). During the year,
approximately HK$80,601,000 was reclassified from the
Group's available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to
consolidated statement of profit or loss upon the disposal of
the Group’s listed and unlisted available-for-sale investments
during the year.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group's listed available-for-sale
investments with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$32,173,000 were pledged to a financial institution to
secure certain margin financing facilities provided to the Group
(note 23).

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS 3R R B

31 March 2016 —%&

15. A G H B R (50)

RZZE-—RAF=ZA=+—H AI#HHHER
BHEASEEN EHMEEMERABESF 2R
B RERABHFIENDERFEEERIE
EREBBEZNRFEIIR-

FR-AEEZ ETMRIELETAIHEER
EZAFEKSZEREMEERAER
& FA AB 58,584,000t (—E—H
F B #5,495,00000) cRFANHERE
B tEmEkELrmaftHERER TR
#4976 #80,601,000C HAEE 2 Al H&E
REEHRHEET S REREBER-

W-EBE—RE=A=+—H K&EEz +
MAAETEREZ2REBRBENBE
32,173,000t E M T — A S @ - L
ERAEEER 2 ETHEBRE (M
23) °

LOANS RECEIVABLE 16. Bl E
2016 2015
—E—XRE —ET—RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans receivable fE U B = 12,730 331,995
Impairment VoRIE] (2,000) (2,000)
10,730 329,995

Less: Balances due within one year included in & : 5t AR BV & E N — & A 5 H]

current assets = (9,356) (329,995)
Non-current portion FEMBNEL D 1,374 -

RELHRERARAA 93
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16. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Loans receivable represented receivables arising from the
provision of finance business of the Group, and bear interest at
rates ranging from 12% to 48% per annum (2015: 7% to
48% per annum). The grants of these loans were approved and
monitored by the Group’s management.

As at 31 March 2016, except for a loan receivable with a
carrying amount of HK$3,317,000 (2015: HK$32,000,000),
which was secured by the pledge of collateral or personal
guarantee by an independent third party, all of the loans
receivable as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were unsecured.

An aged analysis of loans receivable, determined based on the
age of the loans receivable since the effective drawn down
date of the loans, as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

16. B E®: (#

EREREASERHBEEBMEEZ
BUWHIE HEFNRER48E(ZZE—F
F - BEIERABE) 2 MNEF B -KREH
EREBEMAEARERERZEENR -

R-ZE—RNE=ZA=+—8B KEEEAS
3,317,000 (ZE—HF B
32,000,0007T) 2 FEWE FRIA — BB L5
—HREHZERRSEAERERN R
—E-REERZFE—RF=ZA=+—8HZ
FrE I E R AEEA -

RBERR HEKEREERERRER
HERR 2 BREC B & 2 JE W B SR BR e 2 AT 4n
T

2016 2015
= —ET-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Loans receivable: U E X
Within 90 days 90H A 3,317 329,248
Between 91 to 180 days 912 180H 5,052 -
Between 181 days to one year 181HE—%F 2,361 -
Over one year —F Pk 2,000 2,747
12,730 331,995

An aged analysis of the loans receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the payment due date, is
as follows:

RREBR REHHARA J“ZJ‘&“M&C‘?
(W AR ER SRR ARE) 2Rk
Mo

2016 2015
p— 7 /\ﬂE :g_ﬁi

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired K@ A B REE 10,730 329,995

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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16. Bk E®H: (2
FEU B REREEB T

LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
The movements in provision for impairment of loans receivable
are as follows:

2016 2015

—E-RF —ZE—-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At beginning of year and 31 March REMM=ZA=+—H 2,000 2,000

As at 31 March 2016, included in the above provision for RIE—RE=ZA=+—H LtutEkE
impairment of loans receivable was a provision for an BB R IR R E A%E%2,000,0007T
individually impaired loan receivable of HK$2,000,000 (2015: —ET—RE B H2,000,0007T ) Z BRI
HK$2,000,000) with a carrying amount of HK$2,000,000 BEREWER B E%2,000,000T (=ZF

(2015: HK$2,000,000). The individually impaired loan
receivable related to a borrower that was in financial difficulties
and was not expected to be recoverable.

— R : 75 #2,000,0007T) @ Bl (& fE
WERS R Z —ZERANTETER
TR ER A R o

REMBERBEZEBEERESZTRIME
FABRE - RS ERA L EH R AL -

Loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 17. B IR

2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Accounts receivable arising from the ordinary R E B ¥ BRGTEL Y

course of business of: U AR 3K
- Dealing in securities: —BEEE:

Margin clients FRER 322,753 195,766
Clearing houses EE AT - 10,093
— Corporate finance business —ERMEES = 1,754
— Insurance brokerage business — RS ETE 9,443 1,454
— Futures brokerage business —HIEELER 4,017 2,452
336,213 211,519
The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the BRABRFPERESRFP ZEHRABKREXKE

dealing in securities transactions are two days after the trade date
except for the balances with margin clients and cash clients which
are repayable on demand. The trading terms with customers of
the corporate finance and insurance brokerage businesses are
mainly on credit. The credit period for customers of corporate
finance and insurance brokerage businesses is generally 30 days,
extending up to 90 days for major customers. The settlement
terms of accounts receivable attributable to dealing in futures
transactions are repayable on demand.

BN B BB X RN ZEYIRFER
HARXZAMEMAE - BEXRE NRR
REXBEPHRZGAREBULKELA
#ET—RME EEBRERRBRELES
BEFNEEMAR30R ME2RPAAIE
RERZIOB -HIEEEXBRIG 2K
RREEGRAALBERERE-

RESHRERARA A
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17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

An aged analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the trade date, is as follows:

17. B R R (=

#i&iﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬂ& RERXZBH K
[y LN

2016 2015

—E—XRE —ET—RHEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within 90 days 90H 335,982 211,347
Between 91 to 180 days 91£180H 231 172
336,213 211,519

An aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

A 8 45745 4% 18 51 ok A R R (E 2 FE U BR AR
oM

2016 2015

—E-REF —E-—FE

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired AEH B KBE 332,182 209,351
Less than 1 month past due BHEIE A AR 584 1,613
1 to 3 months past due BHI1 2318 A 3,216 387
Over 3 months past due B HA3ME A LA - 231 168
336,213 211,519

As at 31 March 2016, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$322,753,000 (2015: HK$195,766,000), which were
secured by underlying equity securities, the Group did not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

Trading limits are set for customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

Accounts receivable as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 related to a
number of independent clients that have a good track record
with the Group and were not impaired. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion
that no provision for impairment was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable as at 31 March 2016 and 2015.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

RZE—XRE=ZFA=+—8 KBBE®E
322,753,000 (=T —RHF B
195 766,0007T ) Z F&ULFF R B X LA AE BE A%
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ZEBEF IR ETRASEERITFAE
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19.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES
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18. Mfi IR - e R H At B HRIR

Non-current JEENHR

Deposits (note) Z& (MizE)
Current B &R
Prepayments and deposits BN RIERES
Other receivables H fth jE I FRTB

The balance of other receivables is neither past due nor
impaired and the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the balance is fully recoverable.

Note: The balance as at 31 March 2016 included a cash deposit of
RMB525,000,000 (approximately HK$631,680,000) paid for the
capital injection into a full-licensed joint venture securities
company in Shanghai which was established in April 2016.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015
—B-RE —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
50,472

1,817

52,289

H A e MR IR A RR R R L BORORVE - R
REAEERR/RFHEH A BERE -

it RoE—RNE-A=+-H2#&HBEHE
MEE—BEEREEEFQA (K=
E-RNFOAKY)FEMXMNZEE
4 AR®525,000,0005 (475
631,680,0007T) °

19. BBRRBLULFEHIIKRZ®RE

Listed equity investments, at market value
Unlisted debt investment, at fair value

The investments as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were classified
as held for trading. The Group’s investments at fair value
through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying value at the
end of the reporting period of approximately
HK$1,235,102,000 (2015: HK$3,318,654,000) were pledged to
certain financial institutions to secure certain margin financing
facilities provided to the Group (note 23).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
aggregate market value of listed securities held by the Group
as at 31 March 2016 was approximately HK$1,075,654,000
(2015: HK$6,789,699,000).

kRS - EmE
FEEMEHKRE HAFE

2016 2015
—E-RF —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
3,601,798

84,519

3,686,317

RIE—RFERZE—HF=ZA=+—H
ZIRENEAFEEEER - RREK
AREBEBEZAATFENRZREZE
T AEEY A& ¥1,235,102,000c (=
— R4 : 7 #3,318,654,00070 ) ' KT
ETemEE UERAEEERZET
FRAE (MiE23) -

REZETHREAH AEER-F
—RNFZAZT—HAEAZLTESEZE
A AB%1,075,654,000C (—E—F
& 1 B #6,789,699,0007T ) °

-
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20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. & B RITHER
2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
Cash and bank balances Be RIRT4 208,988 50,659

As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, all the cash and bank balances
of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain cash at banks of the Group earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts
of the cash and bank balances approximate to their fair values.

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions
in respect of clients” monies arising from the course of
securities brokerage, futures brokerage and insurance
brokerage. As at 31 March 2016, HK$30,489,000 (2015:
HK$5,286,000) was held by the Group on behalf of the clients
in the trust accounts. The client monies as at 31 March 2016
and 2015 were not included in the Group's cash and bank
balances.

21. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 21.

The balances as at 31 March 2016, based on the trade date,
were all aged within 90 days (31 March 2015: 90 days).

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22.

Other payables and accruals as at 31 March 2016 mainly
consisted of a deposit received of HK$150,000,000 in respect
of the SJ Disposal (as defined in note 37(b)).

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

R-ZE—REFER-_TE—RHE=A=+—
H AEBEFRAES MFTESRYAEE
HE-

AEERRITZETRESRESRRTE
R ERIPF N KRG B - HE MRITHAERR
ZEREERE QN FERE -

AEBRERERBERITERP T
REHEL  PELELRRBELBIEF
EEZEFRBEB-R_ZT—XRF=A
—+—H FAEEREREFPRIERFF
B A 130,489,000 (ZE— R F B
5,286,0007C) R =—E—R"FLK T —FH
F=ZA=+—HONEPREBETETALE
BzRERIRITHES-

& BR &%
RIE—RNFZA=Z+—H &KX HH:
ERMEGZREYAOBE (ZE—RF=
B=+—H:90H)R-

HtuEMREARENER
R-B—RNE=A=+—BZEMmENNXK
BREFEAFZEEMSIEESTE (TE
B H5E37(b) ) B W iZ £ 78 #150,000,000
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23. INTEREST-BEARING OTHER BORROWINGS 23. ;iR HEMtifEgE
2016 2015
—E-RE “E-nfF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
BEER FEER
Fl2=(%) ZH8 A BETT 1% (%) 3|5 A BETT
B
Other borrowings EifEE
- secured (note (b)) ~BER (M) 243-3.19 2015 130,000
- secured (note (b)) — B (M) 724 On demand 70,255
- unsecured -BER 7.50 2015 120,000
320,255
Non-current EiL
Other borrowing Bt
- unsecured (note (c)) - BER (W) N/A N/A -
TEA TEm
2016 2015
ZE-RE —T-T1F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
Analysed into: A
Margin loans repayable on demand BREREE/ARER 70,255
Other borrowings repayable within one year BAR—FREBZEMEE 250,000
Other borrowings repayable beyond five years BRAFRERBIENREES -
320,255

Notes:

All borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

At 31 March 2016, the Group's margin loan borrowings of
HK$71,378,000 were secured by the Group's listed investments
at fair value through profit or loss with aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$1,235,102,000.

At 31 March 2015, the Group's margin loan borrowings of
HK$200,255,000 were secured by the Group’s listed and unlisted
available-for-sale investments and investments at fair value
through profit or loss with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$32,173,000 and HK$3,318,654,000,
respectively (notes 15 and 19).

In June 2015, the Company issued an unsecured note with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to an independent third
party with interest bearing at 5% per annum payable annually in

arrears. The note is repayable in June 2022.

REBR-Z—RER-T-AF=A
=t—-BMmBEREHLERHE-

MN_E-RE=ZA=1t—0 KX&£BEZF
BEREEHBY71,378,000 T ANEE 2
BRI (E 4978 %51,235,102,0007T 2 35 3818
AR TFENNRZ TR AEHE IR

MR-E-—RAF=A=+—80 KEEHEK
200,255,0007t 2 FFR B fE BELAAREERE
H(EZB 32,173,000 2 R IEETA
M EIE KB HE3,318,654,0007T 2 15 4818
AR TFESER ZZEERIR (15K
19) ©

RZZE—RFENA ARARE—ELBLE
= HEITALEEE10,000,0007T 2 EIK
HZE REFNRS%TE  BREFFHER
Yo REBEEEAR T —FENAEE-
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24. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liability and assets during the
year are as follows:

Deferred tax liability

BLERBEEREENFRAZEHNT

BEEHIEEE
Temporary difference related to
unrealised fair value gains of
investments at fair value
through profit or loss
HEBREEUAFETR
ZREZRERAFERSE

ERZEGESE
2016 2015
—E-RE —T-1%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T AT T
At beginning of year RNEH] (42,289) -
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the consolidated FRF A/ (BB ) GEIBHERZ

statement of profit or loss during the year ERERIE (FIFE10)

(note 10) 38,164 (42,289)
Deferred tax liability at 31 March R=A=+—HZEEREAE (4,125) (42,289)
Deferred tax assets ELEHRBEE

Temporary differences related to
depreciation in excess of
related depreciation allowances
HB L ERATEREZ
NEERZERER
2016 2015
—E-RE —T-h#%E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB T
At beginning of year READ 152 99
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the consolidated &Rt A/ (B B)GEABHRY

statement of profit or loss during the year B IE (FF3E10)

(note 10) (33) 53
Deferred tax assets at 31 March R=A=+—BZELHIBEE 119 152

At 31 March 2016, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$1,372,175,000 (2015:
HK$1,365,945,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong
Inland Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised at
the end of the reporting period in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in companies that have been loss-making for some
time or due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of
those companies, and accordingly, it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

RZE—RFZA=+—08 AEEEEE
EEZBIBEIELN &B11,372,175,0007T
— T — F F##1,365,945,0000T) (B
HFEAURBRARE) ZEHEEBBIER
ERAREIREEE BB AR 2 AR ERT
A e ARESBMEEZ AREEM L
KN ARBERETEZE DR Z R F 2R -
U AR 2 K A Be B FE R Bt m ) LA BT &) AR
2 I EEE BN RS BRRITEZ
EHEEEREEHREEE-
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. & &
Shares vy
2016 2015
= i —F-1fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT
Authorised: ETE
5,000,000,000,000 (2015: 5,000,000,000,000) ordinary shares of ~ 5,000,000,000,000/% ( =& —H 4
HK$0.001 (2015: HK$0.001) each 5,000,000,000,000% ) 4 fi [ & 78 %
0.0017T (ZZ—HF : ##0.00171)
TR 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
14,324,137,300 (2015: 10,324,137,300) ordinary shares of 14,324,137,3008% (= E— 1 %F:
HK$0.001 (2015: HK$0.001) each 10,324,137,300% ) & iR E E % %
0.0017T (ZZ— A% : B#0.0017)
BBk 14,324 10,324
A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital KRR B EITRARK D BE R Z e
and share premium account is as follows: T -
Share
Number of Issued premium
Notes shares in issue capital account Total
Wz ERTROHUE ERTRA R 1R (B iR nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT T

At 1 April 2014 RZE-NFNA—AH 344,137,910 3,441 1,647,353* 1,650,794
Issues of bonus shares BT (a) 3,785,517,010 6,883 - 6,883
Share subdivision B fn A (b) 6,194,482,380 - - -
At31March 2015and  RZE-RF=A=+—-HRK
1 April 2015 “E-hFMA—H 10,324,137,300 10,324 1,647,353* 1,657,677
Issue of shares upon RERARRZERETRO
conversion of convertible
notes (© 4,000,000,000 4,000 596,000 600,000
Share issue expenses Wi B TR X (©) - - (21,000) (21,000)
At 31 March 2016 RZE-—R"E=ZA=+—H 14,324,137,300 14,324 2,222,353* 2,236,677
* Share issue expenses of HK$1,350,000, HK$42,000 and * A& 17 2 17 2 78 #1,350,0000T ~ 7B 1
HK$6,000,000, which were paid to a subsidiary of the Company 42,0007T % 7 #6,000,0007T 2 7 5l 72 &
during the years ended 31 March 2010, 31 March 2014 and 31 E-FT-TF=A=+—H ZFT—MNF
March 2016, respectively, were eliminated in full at —A=t+—BEZZE—X"F=A=1+—H
consolidation. Such share issue expenses were deducted from the IFFEINTFARARz —HAWBAR B
share premium account balance of the Company. REGE R BREEE ZERMEITHRXE

MR R R Pty im ERREARRE P IO -
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25.

26.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@  In September 2014, the Company distributed a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2014 of HK$0.01 per share by way of
an issue of bonus shares of 344,137,910 with par value of
HK$0.01 each, giving rise to an increase in share capital of
approximately HK$3,441,000.

In December 2014 (after the below-mentioned share subdivision
in note 25(b)), the Company further issued bonus shares of
3,441,379,100 with par value of HK$0.001 each, on the basis of
one bonus share for every two subdivided shares, giving rise to
an increase in share capital of approximately HK$3,442,000.

(b)  In December 2014, the Company effected a share subdivision of
every one share with par value of HK$0.01 each being
subdivided into ten subdivided shares with par value in the
capital of the Company of HK$0.001 each.

(c) In March 2016, the Company issued 4,000,000,000 new shares
with par value of HK$0.001 each at a conversion price of
HK$0.15 each upon conversion of convertible notes for a total
cash consideration of HK$600,000,000 (before convertible notes
placing expenses of HK$21,000,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) with a term of
ten years commencing from 31 August 2012.

The primary purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme were disclosed in
the Company's circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2012 Scheme are
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers to the Group whom the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

25.

26.

i D)
B 3% -

(@ RZZTE—WFLA ARQRAEBIT
344,137,910 &R E BB $0.0170 2 41
B HRBE-F-NE=A=+—Al
FERIPRBFREL0.01T SIAIE
D047 #53,441,0007T ©

RZZT—MFE+=F (XM E25(b)Arit
B FME)  RNRRIETMBRIFARKRG
R — AR EERE — ST
3,441,379,1008¢ & I EI{E /B #0.0017T 2

AT R% - SRR AN S I 4978 #53,442,0007T ©
by RZZ—WE+=F AABETRMDIF

M BARRRRETF G -REREESE
0.01mZzRHiF A +TIREREEEE
0.0017C 2 A% 15 ©

(O RZZ—REZF ARAREBARRR
ERRIREIRETRARG B0 1570817
4,000,000,000/% & X E{EE#0.0017T 2
Rk 4235 £ KB A 600,000,000
T(RIBARBRZERERAL B
21,000,0007T) °

AR 4 =t 21

RZE——FNA=Z+—BRTHRER
FRE L WRBBEFENAQ G IERE
FEI([ZE2—ZF58]) AT —=F

NAZ+— s+ EMmRARRAE
L

T —FHENETEEN AR HEER
HBBARREART I HE  THE2
HBERHBARRAREROH ZEE S
ARRINERBEEESTE  —F— —F&f
ZME—FTHBOCNARRBHA-Z
——F A+ RAENBRPIRE-

RIE-T——F53 282A8HDHE
BEARAREMBRARZEMES (B
WITES FRTEERBUIFNTES)
ERAEEZREREURALNAESRSE ([EF
ERDES E’JIEWF%;TK’ilf’EHjYﬂﬂ’EHj
BRIZEMER #RA DHAE AE
moEn KR BEFP - XBEH &8
NEEBEH B A KRR ER -



26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company. Share options granted may be exercised during the
period as notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making the offer and shall be at any time from the date of
grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed 10% of the
total number of the Company's ordinary shares in issue on
respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in respect
of which share options may be granted to each of the
participants (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2012 Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the
Company’s ordinary shares in issue. The Company may renew
the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior
shareholders’ approval in general meeting and the Stock
Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in the
Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2012 Scheme shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be
less than the greatest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date on which a share option is
granted; (ii) the average closing price of the Company's share
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date on which a share option is granted; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

Notes to Financial Statements
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26. MB M B (o)

EXen2RRNBRERNEMN2EARSE
BEEELN - BEAARZREZOKME (HH
HERLARALAREZEANE) BINE
Rt R L ERERARR N ZREES
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BREFCEL - EARER -EREZER
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HEETEF I 2R
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TERRATEBRE)EENEBRES
218 (BEAR A0 E b BB 8 /1T
MR aEE)  TEBEAARDHITE
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 68,827,582 shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each upon the approval of
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on 28
August 2014. The total number of shares available for issue
under the 2012 Scheme was revised upon the completion of
the share subdivision in December 2014 as further detailed in

note 25(b) to 688,275,820 shares with par value of HK$0.001

26. ARSI (=)
ERER-_Z—NFNA -+ N\BERZ
AARREBAF RS FHOEE G EIRHE
PR 5E 48 9 371 68,827,582 0% 5 A% [ (B 75
001 L2t R _E—WE+ - ARH
40 52 K 12 (RO P SE25(h)E — B 5Fut) - 4R
BT - FEr S AT 2 R B EUE
1] 2688,275,8200% Fi% E &5 #0.001

each. T 7 AR5 o
The following share options were outstanding under the 2012 THRBEB-T——_FERE 2 EBRER
Scheme during the year: FANEARITE
Number of share options**
EREZA
Granted  Exercised ~ Cancelled  Adjustments Date Exercise
At during  during  durng  during At of grant of Exercise period of price of
TApril  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 31 March share options* share options ~ share options**
R B
RBA-B ERRE EAGE  EAEE  EREE ZA=t-H BRERLDE ERERE ik
HKS per
000 000 000 000 000 000 share
h TR T T T Tk BREH
2016
IEE
Directors
£z
In aggregate 13-4-2015 23-4-2015 t0 22-4-2025
3 - 200,000 - - - 200,000 ZE-REMACTIR Z3-REMACTZAECSCREMACTOA 0.49
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.49 HK$0.49
METSAEE - BT - - - BB
Non-employees
b3t
In aggregate 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025
it - 488,276 - - - 4826 EF-RFBACTIR CE-REMACTEAECECRFMA-TCA 0.49
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.49 HK$0.49
NETATRE - ER0on - - - BB
* The vesting period of the share options was from the date of * HEBRE B HR LA R ET

grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

**  The exercise price and the number of the share options are
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or

other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 23 April 2015, 200,000,000 and 488,275,820 share
options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.49 each were
granted by the Company to directors of the Company and non-
employees of the Group, respectively, under the 2012 Scheme.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was estimated as at the date of grant, using the
binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The values of share
options calculated using the binomial model were subject to
certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature of
and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the
expected future performance input to the model, and certain
inherent limitations of the model itself. The value of an option
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
Any change to the variables used may materially affect the
estimation of the fair value of an option.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used during
the year ended 31 March 2016:

Contractual life of options (years)

Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEE (BREE)
Dividend yield (%) %2 (%)
Historical volatility (%) iﬁﬁiﬁi“ﬂ%(%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) % M % (%)
Exercise multiple ﬁ@ﬂ 2

Exit rate R=

The aggregate fair value of the share options granted was
HK$23,082,000 and was recognised as share option expense in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2016. No share option was granted during the year ended
31 March 2015.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company had
688,275,820 share options outstanding under 2012 Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
688,275,820 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of approximately HK$688,000 and share
premium of approximately HK$336,567,000 (before issue
expenses). There was no share option outstanding during the year
ended 31 March 2015.

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Company had 688,275,820 share options
outstanding under the 2012 Scheme, which represented
approximately 4.8% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that
date.

BRESOFH(F)
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26. B IH B (=)

R-ZT—RFWMA f+z B RARRE=
T FFE NIRRT EERAEEH
#E%?ﬁﬂjzoo 000,00017 }2 488,275, 820 N

B URBA R BT H T ER
T"’T@Efﬁ/’éﬁ%o 497T °

AEERONUAEBGEEBREZ AT
B HREH AEERA - EAEA G T
B P I o B RECHE 0 MG R B MR A o R AR
MEERA -BAAEAGE IXRETE
ARGFAR- R RAZETEME R — XK
JIEMBEBHARKRENBRRNBAZHA
BTEENE WEEAXGNETRR B
BRERNBEEXETIBRRNEHRTE-
FriEMERNEF A HBRENQFER
AHEREATE -

TREJBE-_FT—AR"EF=A=1+—HL
FEZRAMRAzBAZE:

10
0.49

87.08
1.865
1.07

Fir#% (0 B RS 1 2 48 2 (B A7 123,082,000
TRBE_E—ARE-A=t+—HIEFE
AR BRERTHRABRERZ - HZE
—ET—AF=ZA=+—HULEFEIERD
EREEEY

REBR ARFR T — —F:+8E
T/5688,275,8201n M AT 2 FEAZHE - 1R
BARNGIRBEARERE WHARITHEZE
REEZETHE  § 5 BENET
688,275,820 AN~ A B AR - FTI AR ALY
B 688,000 kIR M s BHBE
336,567,0007C (ARHIBREITHZ) B =
—E-—RFZAZT—BHLFE UEE
RITE 2 FERRHE -

NZERAMBHRREMLEER A A
m_§*_$qu%UIETﬁ688,275,820@r'?
RTEZBERE - EHEREBARRA D #
TN #94.8% ©
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27. RESERVES 27. #iE
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements AEERAFERBAFEZHESER
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the HEEHRUBEMRBLBEZIGEERES
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 42 of the EE‘:F‘EEJ
financial statements.
28. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 28. HE—RIME QR
2016 2015
A —ZT-IF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
s BT T BT T
Net assets disposed of: EHEEEFE:
Prepayments and other receivables TE 5 RRIE 2 H At I U R IA 700 -
Cash and bank balances Re MRTTHEE 20 -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HeE—RHB AR ZEE 6 (642) -
78 -
Satisfied by cash IR & 19 78 -

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
during the year ended 31 March 2016 in respect of the
disposal of a subsidiary was as follows:

REBEE_-Z

—RNFE=ZA=+—HBILHFE"

FRALE—RHNBARZHEEIREEFE
MIRAFEINAOT

2016 2015

—E-REF —E—[E

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Cash consideration ReNE 78 -

Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERS RIBTES (20) -
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BERLE—RHBLARZ

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary RekBeZEMRAERE 58 -

29. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2016, the consideration
of acquisition of 6.5% equity interest in a subsidiary of
HK$100,513,000 was settled by offsetting an amount
due from the holding company of the acquiree.

(b)  During the year ended 31 March 2016, the acquisition of
an available-for-sale investment of HK$22,966,000 was
settled by offsetting a prepayment made for a
subscription of right shares in prior year.

(c)  During the year ended 31 March 2016, the consideration
of acquisition of an investment at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$24,477,000 was settled by offsetting
a prepayment made in prior year.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

(a)

29. T EHBEXH

HE-_Z—R"F=A=t+—HBIt=E
[E - Wi — R E A R6.5%E R
F;M%moswoooﬁﬁ‘aﬁz@ﬁﬁw%
Wik U B8 5 Z AR RR A R R E M 2 A+ o

HE-_Z—R"F=A=t+—HBIt=E
B BEa@fEEIREBE
22,966,0007T T iE @K E N B A FE
PREERROEL ZENREmMX
fFe

HEe-_Z—-RE=F=+—H8It#F
B WESBEENAFEYERZE
BERRBEHAR24,477,00070 T35 @ 1K
HRBAFEEL ZAMFKEMNS
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30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

31.

32.

Details of the Group's interest-bearing other borrowings, which
are secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes
15, 19 and 23 to these financial statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leases staff quarters and office premises under
operating lease arrangements. The leases for the properties are
negotiated for terms of ranging from one to two years.

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under the
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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30. HEEH
AEEZAEREBER (USEE AR
R 2 HBEHRN RS HREM E
15 +19K23 °

31. BEHV R BE
EBEBA
AEERBELENTHAEEIEER
PRS- WERE > ABCHEE AN T
__j:ﬁﬁfﬁ°

AEERBETIAIBBELEHEOZARRE
MEMRBBEZAHBEROT

—FR
FEF

Within one year
In the second year

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) In addition to the transactions and arrangements detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
4,838

2,685

7,523

32.RAEFKRH
(@) BZEMBRELMIDFERT T
S REZHIN AN EBMPAE BB E

the following transactions with related parties during the FENTRS:
year:
2016 2015
—E—XRE —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Associate (including its subsidiaries): i /N]|
(BEERBAR)
Management fee ERE (i) -
Commission and brokerage income from REFHFEZFZ2HE X (i)
securities dealings F RPN 111
Commission and brokerage expenses KEFLHEBEZHE N (i)
from securities dealings SIS 1,031
Margin loan interest income FREZF B WA (iv) 682
Rental expenses e (v) 1,389
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

32. Eﬂ%?‘i’)‘fg (%)

(a) (Continued) (a) (#&)

Notes: B &

() The management fee was received from a subsidiary of an (y BEEBDIRAEHEERERAAS
associate of the Group for management services rendered. E-AEE A n s —HARBARK
The fee was mutually agreed between the Group and the BezBRRAEEEEREHH
entity. [ 175 7€ °

(i) The commission and brokerage income were received from (i) FehkELBRATRRHEFRLEL
certain subsidiaries of an associate of the Group for RERASEE —BiE A cET
securities brokerage services rendered. The terms and Pt B8 A AU ER - B2 B E FE 5 AH R 2
conditions associated with the dealing of securities were R R A T IRIR R At T2 E 485
made according to the terms and conditions offered to BE P 2 R R AR EE -
external customers of that entity.

(i)  The commission and brokerage expenses were paid to a (i) FAehkE&LRAZHRERERFLL
subsidiary of an associate of the Group for securities R Z T FASE Mt E R A2
brokers services rendered. The terms and conditions —fEMB AR -HEEESFHEE
associated with the dealings of securities were made R RIGGTIRERMETZEEE
according to the terms and conditions offered to external HNER TR P 2 MR AR B AR AR S o
customers of those entities.

(iv)  The interest income arose from margin loans advanced to (iv)  FLEMAZK B fR 4 T A & B — [ B
certain subsidiaries of an associate of the Group which ERRZETHBARIZHRER
were charged at 8% to 10% for the year ended 31 March REBZE-_ZT—hFE=A=+—HIt
2015. FE ZERIRSEZ10EE -

(v)  The rental expenses were related to the leasing of the (v) MHEFAxEmANER—FBEERQF
Group's office premises from certain subsidiaries of an ZETHEBRAREERAEER QG
associate of the Group, of which rentals were charged at iR EhEeEAREBERAME
monthly fixed amounts in accordance with the underlying B RIE TR
rental agreements.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the by AEBEX2EEABZHH:

Group:

2016 2015
—E-RF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Short term employee benefits REREERT 4,114 4,377

Post-employment payments RKET 120 119

Equity-settled share option expense R A H BB AR 2 B 2 6,708 -

Total compensation paid to key management BAITEEEAES M2

personnel 42 5%5 B 10,942 4,496

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to these financial statements.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. BiEpSIo eI R

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERR SEA 2T A ZERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as R
follows:
2016
—E-RF
Financial assets
SREE
Financial

assets at fair
value through
Available-  profit or loss

for-sale - held for Loans and
financial assets trading receivables Total
EBEHEU
N ES R
AHEE 2eREE = &5
TMEE -BHIFEE EBWNE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EETT BETT BETT BETT

Accounts receivable JE Ui B 7R - - 336,213 336,213
Loans receivable e E X - - 10,730 10,730

Financial assets included in prepayments, ~ BIERIEMNFIE RS K&

deposits and other receivables HElkzarzemE
3 - - 69,213 69,213

Investments at fair value through profitor ~ FE BBz AR FEFIEE 2
loss BE - 1,235,102 - 1,235,102
Cash and bank balances e MIRITREER - - 208,988 208,988
- 1,235,102 625,144 1,860,246

Financial liabilities

= =i

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
REEATARZ
ol =Ri
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FETAR R 21,811

Financial liabilities included in other payables BREREMENFEREFERZ
and accruals THRBEE 152,942
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHEMEER 81,378
256,131

RESRERERAT 109
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(Continued)
2015
—E—RF
Financial assets

THMEE

Notes to Financial Statements
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

3. ZMAB S cemMTI R (&)

Financial

assets at fair

value through

Available-  profit or loss

for-sale - held for
financial assets trading
ERBEZEN

AYEHR

TREE  ZEREE
tHMEE  -HfFRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
ARTT BRI

Loans and
receivables Total

EXR
F kA o
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BRETT

Available-for-sale investments

Accounts receivable

Loans receivable

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Investments at fair value through profit or
loss

Cash and bank balances

Financial liabilities
eWmas

AfRHERE

91,461 -

BERBATUE KERAME

WREzZ e BEE

BEBBEARTFEIIKIRE

Re RBITES

3,686,317

- 91,461
211,519 211,519
329,995 329,995

51,380 51,380

- 3,686,317

50,659 50,659

91,461 3,686,317

643,553 4,421,331

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

BEHEREARZ

tRBE

HK$'000

BETT

Accounts payable R 1,322
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals BEREMENRBEREGFERZ

TRAR 3,271

Interest-bearing other borrowings FAEEMEE 320,255

324,848

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 4. &M TRAZAFEHRLAFES

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RES
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial AEEZzeRMIE (FRERQATFTESRE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that BEERIN) cBREBERATFENT
reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE ANFE
2016 2015 2016 2015
—EB-REF —T-RF ZE-REF —T—RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Financial assets TRMEE
Available-for-sale HEERE
investments 91,461
Loans receivable, non- FEM E R 2 FERNHA
current portion il -
Investments at fair value — FiB B A A F(E
through profit or loss IR 21 E 3,686,317 3,686,317
Deposits, non-current R& 2 EREE S
portion _
Financial liability cRBE
Interest-bearing other SFEHMEE 2 IE
borrowing, non-current BVEREB 7
portion -
Management has assessed that the fair values of accounts ERETE  BUR - BUE 2 BIHEEED
receivable, the current portion of loans receivable, financial o BEEEMNRIE - Ze R EMERGRIAR
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, FreREE -Re MIBITER ERE
cash and bank balances, accounts payable, financial liabilities FoPETHMENRIEBERESER+T 2
included in other payables and accruals and current portion of TREERTEEMEE 2B 2 A
interest-bearing other borrowings approximate to their carrying TEHHEEEAMERSE TEE2ARZET
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these A7 B EARE A o
instruments.
The Group's management is responsible for determining the AEBEEEEEEETESRMITAEAFER
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of EVBERREF WEERAEZZEER
financial instruments and reports directly to the audit H REWMERHR EEESMEMIAZ
committee. At each reporting date, management analyses the BEZE ETHERAZEEHALZH-
movements in the values of financial instruments and BEFMAREZZE N RMEERIE R
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The ROETHBHRFREMBRER-
valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included cREERBEZATENUNZIAEBRER
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in 57 CGRBAIBEBRHERIN ERRS T2
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a ARXZGEBAR - B AFTEREHAT
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and ST ERBHK:

assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

The fair value of unlisted equity investment was based on
recently transacted price.

The fair value of unlisted debt investment had been estimated
using Trinomial Tree Pricing Model. The directors believed that
the estimated fair value resulting from the valuation technique,
which was recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related change in fair value, which was
recorded in consolidated statement of profit or loss, was
reasonable, and that it was the most appropriate value at the
end of the reporting period.

The fair values of the non-current portion of loans receivable
and non-current portion of interest-bearing other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

4. @MIAZAFERLIFES

X P
LHRERE Y AT EERTISME-

FLETRERENDFELENOINRS

B1% -

FLTEBRENRFENERA=XEE
EBRAGEG -EERS EAGERNES
MEE A FE (BT ARE BRI RR)
LA EEZS (Bt AREIRER)B
B ERBEPRAREEZHEE

e E Rz FEANEE D RET R EMERZ
FERNEE S 2 A FETIERER  FEA
aMBTIHEEEL SR T AREA
BZHNRBRBPRKREREMTE -

DR ETREE
TRIIFAEEERMIAZ A TFEIRR
&

URFEAEBZEE:

Fair value measurement using

BRATEBEDVEME

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERAER BEATA
RS RE BA2E  BEEAZY
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(8-F) (5-E) (=FE) it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BB BETL
As at 31 March 2016: RoF-EZf=1-H:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BBEZARTEINE2KE 1,235,102 - - 1,235,102
As at 31 March 2015: R-FE—RF=H=1—A:
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE 39,461 52,000 - 91,461
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  EBBZUAFENER 2 KE 3,601,798 84,519 - 3,686,317
3,641,259 136,519 - 3,777,718
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair RZE—RFRZE—RAF=A=+—

value as at 31 March 2016 and 2015.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2015: Nil).

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 4. &M TRAZAFEHRLAFES

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) LR =)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFESRER (E)
Assets for which fair value is disclosed: HEANFEZEE.

Fair value measurement using

FRATEEL A FEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
EATBR EALT
ERTERE GA2E  BEHA2Y
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(£5-E) (E-E) (85=E) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BT BETL
As at 31 March 2016: RoE- E=f=1—-H:
Loans receivable, non-current portion EREHFENEDS - 1,374 - 1374
Deposits, non-current portion ReZFNERS - 1,742 - 1,742
- 3,116 - 3,116
Liability for which fair value is disclosed: HELAFEZEE:
Fair value measurement using
FRAUATEBZATENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERTBER EATA
ERTERE aAZ2Y  BEEAZ2Y
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(&) (5ZF) (8=FE) it
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BETT
As at 31 March 2016 RoE-NE=f=+-H:
Interest-bearing other borrowing, SEEMEEZHNATS
non-current portion - 10,000 - 10,000
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing other borrowings and cash and bank balances. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale
investments, accounts receivable, loans receivable, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
investments at fair value through profit or loss, accounts
payable and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity and
debt price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to its interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly loans
receivable and bank deposits primarily at floating interest rates
which are mostly short term in nature whereas financial
liabilities are mainly other borrowings at floating interest rates.
The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rate available.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit/(loss) before tax (through the
impact on floating rate bank deposits, loans receivable and
other borrowings) and the Group's equity.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

35. U MBEEE A RREEK

AEBZEESHITEAEFEHMEE
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
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35. M MMEE B MRBE o

FlEmEE (&)

B RS 3R R B

iy

Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
BEEigm, FRELATE 18 G M,
CRA) ®ma (g h) R ) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2016 —ET-REF
Hong Kong dollar B 25 (67) -
Hong Kong dollar B (25) 67 -
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
B B4 A s A
BB, #m, REzIE I,
:2 OR) ORd) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2015 —ET—-ILfF
Hong Kong dollar ok 25 274 -
Hong Kong dollar ok (25) (274) -

* Excluding retained profits

Credit risk

The Group's major exposure to credit risk relates to accounts
receivable, loans receivable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, cash and bank
balances and investments at fair value through profit or loss
arises from default of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group’s loans and accounts receivable arise from the
ordinary course of business of the Group and are closely
monitored by the directors on an ongoing basis. Further
guantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit

* TEEREE N

5 EE
REBRYHENELZTEZERAKRE
FEMRBEZN - FEWRE Z - BIEEFAMFE 1%
eREMERFEFZEBEE Rk
BITHEB N BEBEZURFEIEZRE
B EEARBSERZETAZERE:
AEBZEBERRERIERNER —KE
BBRPELE YHEEHERTER -4
B A B EE R E AR
ez — P EEE DRRZET B R
K16 17HEE -

risk arising from loans and accounts receivable are disclosed in
notes 16 and 17, respectively, to these financial statements.

ol B EEH
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk is minimal in the current year and is
managed by matching the raising of loans or equity funding to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

35 UERREBRAFEERKE )

BB /m R

AEERFAZRBECERER LB
BERIBABRERNARRSFRME
B-AKEsBRRAEHRERRA LAY
MBEEHRKLEREREERRLZL AR
HBEARSHBRNEARRMZAD

BEaFEKo

REEMR 2RBEEREORBIRAR
ZEBFERIWT

2016
ZE-RF
Within one year One to Over five
or on demand five years years Total
—FEPR
FIREK —ZRF HENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Accounts payable FEATER 3K 21,811 - - 21,811
Financial liabilities included /82 4% 74 E 4th & 1~ 3k
in other payables and BHREGTERP
accruals ZEmMEaE 152,942 - - 152,942
Interest-bearing other FEHEMEE
borrowings 73,167 2,000 10,614 85,781
247,920 2,000 10,614 260,534
2015
—T—RF
Within one year
or on demand
—F AR RIEE K
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FERBRR 1,322
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals £ 3E 7 H i & < 218 &2
EstEATzemEE 3,271
Interest-bearing other borrowings AFEEMEE 320,510
325,103

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED



35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity and debt price risk

Equity and debt price risk is the risk that the fair values of
equity and debt securities decrease as a result of changes in
the levels of equity indices and the value of individual
securities. The Group is exposed to equity and debt price risk
arising from individual equity and debt investments classified as
held-for-trading investments (note 19) and available-for-sale
investments (note 15). The Group's listed investments are listed
on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices
at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
change in the fair values of the equity investments and debt
investments to which the Group has significant exposure at the
end of the reporting period, with all other variables held
constant and before any impact on tax. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments, the
impact was deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve and no account was given for factors such
as impairment which might impact the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

35. B EMEEE WERE o
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iy

RER EHEKER

P R (B 755 (B 18 LR 5 ph 0 A A 45 BUKF
Ko A 5l 58 7 B B 2 3 8 B A R B H & 5
DNFAER D 2 B o AR E 2 B N B
BREBRREDELSFEEERE (ME
19) R ERE (M3E15) 2 @RIk
REBRE -NEBEZ EMREEBRA
EHARBERRATISREFE

TRINTAEERNHFEMREAZEAR R
ZEEREREBREATFERHSEH
5% ZBREE  BERRRMALMERER
N KRG RIE R E - LA TN
FOHAHEEREREZEERG Y
AHEEREEHRFB TV E TEF R
AREFEGABaRZBESFRE-

Carrying Change
amount of in profit/(loss) Change
investments before tax in equity*
B B AT
wE&EZ wFl/ (EBE)
BEE B s G TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BT T
2016 —ET-RE
Investments listed in Hong Kong: REB LM ZIRE:
— held-for-trading —BEEE 1,235,102 61,755 -
2015 —T—RF
Investments listed in Hong Kong: REBLEMZRE:
— held-for-trading —BEER 3,601,798 180,090 -
— available-for-sale —AHHE 39,461 - 1,973

* Excluding retained profits

* TEREREEN
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.MEREEEHERBRE &)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements except for certain
subsidiaries engaged in the securities and futures broking
businesses and the provision of corporate finance advisory
services, which are regulated entities under the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and a
subsidiary, which is registered under the Hong Kong Insurance
Companies Ordinance (the “ICO"), are required to comply with
the respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC and
the ICO. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2016 and 2015.

EXEHE

AEBEAER 2T EAREREAKHE
CRBRERNREFREFZER L
N FBEXBRBBRRGERAEE-

AEEBRELERR B REHBEEZ
RERGEERREAGBLFLARE B
MR AABEAGER AREAEREBIR
MFRERZBEE MERREBERAKET
Mk -BREEFLPELLCEHEIR
HEXBMEBRRB2ETHERR (5
REBEEFLPEERERZES ([&
EDREZER) UL HRERE
R N REDI (TR 2 BMEB]) T2 Mt
BAR ANAEES RERRRFIGREZ
REEARRESIN AL B EZRNINED
BMZEARE RBE-_T—R"FR-
T-AF=A=+—BLEFERN FT&EH
WHENBHEEREREE BEREF-

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is REBEBBEELXRERER EELE

interest-bearing other borrowings divided by the equity R BEMEERUANQRHE AEIGHE

attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at wETE o RWMEHR  AEEZBEL RN
the end of the reporting periods were as follows: N

2016 2015

—E-RF —E-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHMEER 81,378 320,255

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 22 &l# A A J&(h # 25 3,064,914 3,454,526

Gearing ratio BELE 2.7% 9.3%
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36. EflaMBEREMAR

36. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The following tables represent details of financial instruments
subject to offsetting:

TREJATFEBZEBRTAFS:

2016
ZE-RE
(Gross amounts
of recognised Related amounts not set off in the
financial  Net amounts of  consolidated statement of finandial
liabilities  financial assets position
setoff inthe  presented in the TRNGRBBRAREERL
Gross amounts consolidated consolidated GLESd
of recognised statement of statement of Financial  Cash collateral
Asset BE financial assets ~ financial position ~ financial position instruments pledged Net amount
AR
MARREH2 REaBH
BEIER ERZeR MRERZZ BER
HELE REAE  SREERE $BIA ReEAn x|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BT BT BT BT
Accounts receivable AR 336,213 - 336,213 - - 336,213
Grossamounts Net amounts o Related amounts not set off in the
of recognised financial  consolidated statement of financial
financial assets liabilities position
Gross amounts setoffinthe  presented in the TERESHBRARRERZ
of recognised consolidated consolidated LR
financial statement of statement of Financial  Cash collateral
Liability 2f liabilities ~ financial position ~financial position instruments pledged Net amount
AR
MRRREHZ REa#H
BERLR EERER HREREIIZ BER
BELE BESE  SHERNE 2BIE ReEAY R
HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT BB BETTL BT BETT BT
Accounts payable ERER 21811 - 21,811 - - 21811

RBLBIERERAT 1«\
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36. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 36. EIfeMBEREMAR &)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
2015
“E-RE
(ross amounts
of recognised Related amounts not set off in the
financial  Net amounts of  consolidated statement of financial
liabiities financial assets posfion
setoffinthe  presented in the URREEHBRARRESL
Gross amounts consolidated consolidated RESR
of recognised statement of statement of Financial  Cash collateral
Asset BE financial assets ~ financial position ~ financial position instruments pledged Net amount
REabh
RREREEL Rkt
BERLR EEAER MREREIZ BER
AELE aELE  CREERE $RIA kiR ik) it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT ARTT BRI BT AT BETT

Accounts receivable EUER 221,185 9,666) 211,519 - - 211,519

Gross amounts Net amounts of  Related amounts not set off in the

of recognised financial  consolidated statement of financial
financial assets liabilities position
Gross amounts setoff inthe  presented in the TRNGRBBRAREERL
of recognised consolidated consolidated GLESd
financial statement of statement of Financial ~ Cash collateral
Liability EL liabilities ~ financial position ~financial position instruments pledged Net amount
AR
MARREHZ RE BB
BERER BEAEE HREREIC BER
gRAE EEAR  LRRRRE $BIA ReEAn x|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BT BT ERTT BETT

Accounts payable ERER 10,988 (9,666) 1322 - - 1322

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED



37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
following significant events of the Group occurred after the
end of the reporting period:

(@) In November 2015, Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL”,
which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into the promoters’ agreement with 14
co-promotors (“Co-Promoters”) pursuant to which the
parties thereto conditionally agreed to cooperate to set-
up a full-licensed joint venture securities company in
Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone (the “JV Securities
Company”) under the framework of the Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China and
Hong Kong (“CEPA”); and FSL conditionally agreed to
invest RMB350 million in the JV Securities Company by
way of subscription of 350,000,000 shares of the JV
Securities Company. In December 2015, FSL entered into
a supplemental agreement with Co-Promoters to further
invest RMB175 million in the JV Securities Company, by
way of subscription of 175,000,000 shares of the JV
Securities Company.

In March 2016, the Group fully paid the aggregate
subscription price of RMB525 million for 525,000,000
shares of JV Securities Company, representing 15% of
share capital thereof.

In April 2016, the fund transfer for the investment in the
JV Securities Company in Shanghai was completed which
was verified by the capital injection report prepared by a
certified public accountant in the Peoples’ Republic of
China and the business licence of the enterprise legal
person has been issued by the Shanghai Municipal
Administration for Industry and Commerce.

(b) In March 2016, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary (the
“Purchaser”) of Imagi International Holdings Limited
("Imagi”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to which the Group has conditionally agreed to
sell and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to
purchase the entire equity interest in Smart Jump
Corporation (incorporated in the Republic of Marshall
I[slands) and its subsidiaries at a consideration of
HK$1,800 million which will be settled by way of a cash
deposit of HK$150 million and promissory notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$1,650 million (the ”SJ
Disposal”).

Notes to Financial Statements
Bt 7% R 3k B &

31 March 2016 —%

37. R ERER
BREUBREEL IO REEN R
BkE AEEBENTERHE:

(@) R-ZE—RAF+—A REFHFER
RE(IRBESH]  BERA 2B
2EWMBAR)EI4Z EFELA
([ R A )T A RS - 1B
It ZHBBREREAEL (R HR
EEMNEVFETKEHENL
) (TCEPA ) ER TR LEBEBRE
SABRETI—EEHMBAELEELEA
B([6EEFHrA)) RERESSE
&R 38 B R 350,000,000 &
BEEHFRABBRDMAEEEFEHFAFE
& AR #350,000,0000t - A - &
—hF+ A RREBHFHEHLFER
AL — O aHE SBRE
175,000,0000% & & 78 % A 7 Bz {7
MEEBFRAE—FTHREARKE
175,000,0007 °

REZZTE—RF=ZA AEBERHIM
R 8%525,000,0000% & & 7 5~ A iy
B (HEREISURA) 2 AREE
AR ¥525,000,0007T °

R-T—RFOA REVNLBEE
EHAANESERO /K AP E
ARKABEEM AR BT E W
ERE - MELETIHTRERRE
MBLEEAAZEXHAR-

by RZZT—ARFZA AEHEZEFEH
BIERARAR ([EF]  REA
FHHRRNZ—HE2EHBR A
(TEF DI EEWwR Bt A&
EEAKHERELEmMEHE B IKY
[/ & B ESmart Jump Corporation
(REEEEESEMBEFMAL) &
HB AR 22 HRE RELBE
1,800,000,0007T ' #% X I8 & & 1@ 37
& %4 7 150,000,0007T M AN & 48
%8 % #1,650,000,0007T 7 7 7, Z 5
S (ISItESE]) -

RESHRERARA A
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37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Based on the announcement of Imagi dated 3 June 2016,
Imagi received a decision by the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange upholding the Listing Department’s
decision that the SJ Disposal should be considered as a
reverse takeover by Imagi and that Imagi would be
treated as if it were a new listing applicant if it proceeded
with the SJ Disposal. Imagi has decided to refer the case
to the Listing (Review) Committee for a further review of
the Listing Committee’s ruling (“Further Review
Request”). The timing and outcome of the Further Review
Request are uncertain. As at the date of approval of these
financial statements, the SJ Disposal was not yet

37. RERZRER &)

(b)

completed.

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

(%)
REESEHA-_T—RFRA=A
ZRE BHREWBMIMETERR
SHRFT EMRERRZIRE - KRS
EFHEEREAER 2 RKETE
AMEBFETIHESE  EHER
BB ETERBA-BFDREH
BRARMEX LM (BR)RZEBE U
HE—FTBERLEMZREGZHR
(TE—TBRER]) E—FTEBRE
oz B A R A R HERE - Mz B
BRI ER S SILEFER KT
B o

38. FNFIMB KA EE

RHERREAAR A BRRER A
BT

2016
i
HK$'000

2015
—E—hF
HK$'000
BT T

BT T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Due from subsidiaries
Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals
Due to subsidiaries

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Interest-bearing other borrowing

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Total equity

AZZ FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

FRBEE
KRB RARZIRE

RBEE
BARIA B E M E AR
= PNDE /]

R MIRTTEH

mBEERE

RBEE
HiEAREREFER
&< BT 8 2 B 3KIR
MERERE
RBEEFE
REERRBAE

FREBEE
FFEREMBE

EEFE
s
BEEITRA
&1

B

72,360

18 592

3,675,751
612

3,676,955

939
14,791

15,730
3,661,225

3,733,585

3,733,585

10,324
3,723,261

3,733,585
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. F AFIMBRREBE 2)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABIEEE RN T
Reserves
B
Retained
Share Capital profits/
premium ~ redemption  Contributed  Distributable ~ Shareholder's  Share option Warrant  (accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve  contribution Teserve reserve [oss) Total
ATER TEAR AR A/

RivaER BE  HARE B RRLE  EREES BE (288 it
Notes  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSODO  HK$000  HKS'00D  HKFO0D  HKS'000  HKS'000
WE  BRTn BBTr BBIr ARTn ERfRn AN ANt #BRtn AR

At 1 April 2014 RZE-MEMA-A 1,647,353 485 39,521 874,114 15,000 - - 1,156,308 3,732,781
Issues of bonus shares Bk 25(a) - - - . . . . (6,893) (6,883)
Loss and total comprehensive  AEEBER

loss for the year *EFRLE - - - - - - - (2,637) (2637)

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April H=E-1%F=8

2015 =t-BRZ%-1
FNA-A 1,647,353 485 39,521 874,114 15,000 - - 1,146,783 3,723,261
Issue of equity-settled share ~ HfTMAEREEZ
options Bl 2% - - - - - 23,082 - - 23,082
Issue of warrants BRRES - - - - - - 20,648 - 20,648
Issue of shares upon conversion  SAE R AT AR Z EE
of convertible notes Bk 25() 596,000 - - - - - - - 596,000
Share isslie expenses OB 21,000 - - - - - - - (21,000
Loss and total comprehensive  AEEBERZESE
loss for the year ag - - - - - - - (1305613)  (1,305,613)
At 31 March 2016 RIE-RF
—R=1-H 2,222,353 485 39,521 874,114 15,000 23,082 20,648 (158,825 3,036,378

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39. #t6MEH X

The financial statements were approved and authorised for BEFEEERN T —R"EAZTHBE
issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2016. R  BERk o

RESBERARA R
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFEMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS

2016

AEESEOABEMRFECXEUREE AF
MR ER MR (BERAETELERYH
WMRIEEH B E/EF2IORERM
JE))EBIINS ©

E ¥
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+T—HLFE
2015 2014 2013 2012

—E-RFE ZE—RHF ZETNF —T—=F —ZFT—=

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT EBETRT AEBTx AT BAET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS #HERLET
REVENUE W &= (143,952) (14,976) 227,678 75,701 8,759
Profit/(loss) before tax B AEA,(BE) (404,625) 462,387 480,082 329,214 (662,335)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris®iEe, (FHAX) 27,159 (42,816) (2,746) (1,792) 278
Profit/(loss) for the year from IHEKLEER 2 FNR
continuing operations wmA (EE) (377,466) 419,571 477,336 327,422 (662,057)

DISCONTINUED OPERATION B & ILE&EET

Profit for the year from the ERIEEEEB 2
discontinued operation F Mg A -

- - - 24,134

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEREHF (B18) (377,466)

419,571 477,336 327,422 (637,923)

Attributable to: TH|A LT FESL:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N (620,996)
Non-controlling interests JEFE I = 243,530

533,025 477,336 327,502 (639,172)
(113,454) - (80) 1,249

(377,466)

419,571 477,336 327,422 (637,923)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

2016

BEE ARLRIIEERKRESR
As at 31 March
R=B=+—8
2015 2014 2013 2012

—E-RFE ZE—R1F ZETNF —T—=F —_FT—=F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BT AETrT BETx
TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 3,333,902 5,429,365 3,419,621 2,822,294 2,228,446
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEAE (268,988) (368,289)  (215,404)  (322,372)  (277,081)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JE4% IR #E 2 - (1,606,550) - - (15,878)
3,064,914 3,454,526 3,204,217 2,499,922 1,935,487

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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